Elucidating the Functions of Proteins Up-regulated During Diapause in Artemia franciscana Using RNAi

by

Allison King

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

At

Dalhousie University Halifax, Nova Scotia February 2013

© Copyright by Allison King, 2013

DALHOUSIE UNIVERSITY

DEPARTMENT OF BIOLOGY

The undersigned hereby certify that they have read and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate Studies for acceptance a thesis entitled "Elucidating the Functions of Proteins Up-regulated During Diapause in *Artemia franciscana* Using RNAi" by Allison King in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Dated: February 8, 2013

External Examiner: _____

Research Supervisor:	
research Supervisor	

Examining Committee: _____

Departmental Representative: _____

DALHOUSIE UNIVERSITY

DATE: February 8, 2013

AUTHOR: Allison King

TITLE: Elucidating the Functions of Proteins Up-regulated During Diapause in *Artemia franciscana* Using RNAi

DEPARTMENT NAME: Department of Biology

DEGREE: PhD CONVOCATION: May YEAR: 2013

Permission is herewith granted to Dalhousie University to circulate and to have copied for non-commercial purposes, at its discretion, the above title upon the request of individuals or institutions. I understand that my thesis will be electronically available to the public.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

The author attests that permission has been obtained for the use of any copyrighted material appearing in the thesis (other than the brief excerpts requiring only proper acknowledgement in scholarly writing), and that all such use is clearly acknowledged.

Signature of Author

Dedicated to my Father Rupert King: Who's memory has gotten me through many a storm

Table of Contents

List of figures	ix
List of tables	x
Abstract	xi
List of abbreviations and symbols used	xii
Acknowledgements	xiv
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1 Artemia franciscana	1
1.2 Diapause, a state of dormancy and enhanced stress tolerance	2
1.3 Classes of Molecular Chaperones	9
1.3.1 sHSPs in Diapause-destined Artemia Embryos	11
1.3.2 Artemin, a ferretin homologue with chaperone activity	12
1.4 The Transcription Cofactor p8	14
1.5 HSP Gene Expression during Stress	15
1.6 HSP Gene Expression during Diapause	17
1.7 Protein Function and RNA Interference (RNAi)	19
Chapter 2: Materials and methods	22
2.1 Artemia culture and handling	22
2.2 Development of a microinjection procedure for adult Artemia	23
2.3 Protein Knockdown by RNA	24
2.3.1 Preparation of dsRNA and siRNAs	24
2.3.2 Injection of A. franciscana with dsRNA and siRNA	27
2.4 Knockdown of mRNA and protein by RNAi	28
2.4.1 Evaluation of mRNA Knockdown by RT-PCR	28
ν	

2.4.2 Evaluation of protein knockdown by immunoprobing of western blots	30
2.5 Determining the effect of protein knockdown on Artemia cysts	33
2.5.1 Assessment of cyst metabolic activity	33
2.5.2 Establishing the effect of protein knockdown on the rate of embryo development	34
2.5.3 Determining the effect of protein knockdown on diapause termination	34
2.5.4 Ascertaining the effect of protein knockdown on the ability of <i>Artemia</i> cysts to tolerate stress associated with diapause breakage	35
2.6 Determining the effect of protein knockdown on heat tolerance of <i>Artemia</i> cysts	35
2.7 Determining the effect of dsRNA specific to ArHsp22 on adult <i>Artemia</i>	36
Chapter 3: Results	37
3.1 Injection of Artemia adults with dsRNA	40
3.2 p26 has multiple roles in Artemia embryos	40
3.2.1 p26 dsRNA specifically knocked down p26 mRNA and	43
protoin	
protein	
3.2.2 Determination of metabolic activity in newly released Artemia cysts	43
3.2.2 Determination of metabolic activity in newly released <i>Artemia</i> cysts 3.2.3 Loss of p26 slows the development of diapause-destined <i>Artemia</i> embryos	43 43
 3.2.2 Determination of metabolic activity in newly released <i>Artemia</i> cysts 3.2.3 Loss of p26 slows the development of diapause-destined <i>Artemia</i> embryos 3.2.4 Loss of p26 leads to spontaneous termination of diapause 	43 43 49
 3.2.2 Determination of metabolic activity in newly released Artemia cysts 3.2.3 Loss of p26 slows the development of diapause-destined Artemia embryos 3.2.4 Loss of p26 leads to spontaneous termination of diapause 3.2.5 p26 contributes to the stress tolerance of Artemia cysts 	43 43 49 49
 3.2.2 Determination of metabolic activity in newly released Artemia cysts 3.2.3 Loss of p26 slows the development of diapause-destined Artemia embryos 3.2.4 Loss of p26 leads to spontaneous termination of diapause 3.2.5 p26 contributes to the stress tolerance of Artemia cysts 3.3 ArHsp21 is not required for completion of diapause 	43 43 49 49 57

3.3.2 Knockdown of ArHsp21 mRNA and protein in Artemia embryos	57
3.3.3 Knocking down ArHsp21 had no effect on the developmental of diapause-destined embryos	60
3.3.4 Cysts lacking ArHsp21 fail to spontaneously break diapause	60
3.3.5 Cysts lacking ArHsp21 retain stress tolerance	60
3.4 dsRNA for ArHsp22 is lethal to adult Artemia	66
3.4.1 Generation of ArHsp22 dsRNA and injection of Artemia females	66
3.4.2 ArHsp22 dsRNA kills adult Artemia	66
3.5 The knockdown of artemin has adverse affects on Artemia embryos	74
3.5.1 Generation of artemin dsRNA and injection of <i>Artemia</i> females	74
3.5.2 Knockdown of artemin in Artemia embryos	74
3.5.3 The time for complete release of a brood of cysts from females lacking artemin was extended	77
3.5.4 Cysts lacking artemin have reduced stress tolerance	77
3.5.5 Cysts lacking artemin do not spontaneously break diapause	82
3.6 Knock down of the transcription co-factor	82
3.6.1 Pooled p8 siRNAs knocked down p8 mRNA	82
3.6.2 p8 does not regulate the synthesis of diapause-specific sHSPSs	82
3.6.3 Cysts lacking p8 exhibit reduced stress tolerance	85
3.6.4 Cysts lacking p8 are capable of spontaneous diapause termination at the time of release	85
3.6.5 Cysts lacking p8 did not spontaneously break diapause after incubation in seawater for 90 days	85

Chapter 4: Discussion	90
4.1 RNAi permits the study of Artemia cyst proteins in vivo	90
4.1.1 Injection of adult females with dsRNA and siRNA knocked down targeted protein in <i>Artemia</i> embryos	90
4.2 p26 has multiple functions in Artemia embryos	92
4.2.1 Elimination of p26 increases the time between fertilization and release of <i>Artemia</i> embryos	92
4.2.2 Cysts lacking p26 terminate diapause spontaneously	93
4.2.3 p26 contributes to stress resistance	96
4.3 ArHsp21 is non-essential during Artemia diapause	98
4.3.1 Embryos lacking ArHsp 21 hatch normally after desiccation and freezing	98
4.4 ArHsp22 may protect Artemia adults from stress	99
4.4.1 Injection with dsRNA specific to ArHsp22 kills adult Artemia	99
4.5 Artemin knockdown disrupts normal behavior of embryos/cysts of <i>Artemia</i>	101
4.5.1 Artemin contributes to stress tolerance in Artemia	101
4.5.2 Artemin lengthens the time for cyst release from females	102
4.6 The role of the transcription cofactor p8 in Artemia development	103
4.6.1 p8 does not regulate the expression of sHSPs and artemin	103
4.6.2 p8 may differentially regulate proteins during diapause	104
4.7 Conclusions	106
Appendix 1: Supplemental figures	109
Appendix 2: Solutions and Recipes	114
References	117

List of Figures

Figure 1. Male and female adult A. Franciscana	3
Figure 2. A. franciscana life history	6
Figure 3. Injection of a female primed to produce cysts	39
Figure 4. Knock down of p26	42
Figure 5. The metabolic activities of p26 knock down and control cysts	
are similar	45
Figure 6. The knockdown of p26 persisted through 4 broods	48
Figure 7. p26 prevents spontaneous diapause termination	51
Figure 8. p26 enhances the stress tolerance of Artemia cysts	53
Figure 9. Heat tolerance of Artemia cysts	56
Figure 10. Injection of females with dsRNA for ArHsp21 specifically	
knocks down ArHsp21	59
Figure 11. The elimination of ArHsp21 does not significantly reduce cyst	
tolerance to desiccation and freezing	62
Figure 12. ArHsp21 had no effect on the heat tolerance of Artemia cysts	65
Figure 13. Generation of dsRNA specific to ArHsp22	68
Figure 14. Injection with dsRNA specific to ArHsp22 kills Artemia adults	70
Figure 15. Appendage morphology changed when adult A. franciscana	
were near death	73
Figure 16. Knockdown of artemin by dsRNA	76
Figure 17. Release from females is slowed for cysts lacking artemin	79
Figure 18. The elimination of artemin significantly reduced the stress	
tolerance of Artemia cysts	81
Figure 19. Molecular chaperones are unaffected by knock down of p8	
in cysts	84
Figure 20. The elimination of p8 significantly reduced the stress tolerance	
of Artemia cysts	87
Figure 21. Cysts lacking p8 occasionally hatch upon release from females	89

List of Tables

Table 1. Primers used to generate dsRNA for molecular chaperones up	
regulated during diapause	25
Table 2. Primers and reaction conditions for RT-PCR confirmation of	
mRNA knockdown	30
Table 3. Conditions for immunoprobing of western blots to confirm	
knockdown of target proteins	32
Table 4. Elimination of p26 slows Artemia embryo development	46

Abstract

Diapause embryos of the animal extremophile Artemia franciscana, a crustacean, are metabolically dormant and exceptionally tolerant to stressors such as heat and anoxia, characteristics thought to depend on the protective activity of molecular chaperones. RNAi methodology was developed and used to knock down individual molecular chaperones which are normally up-regulated during Artemia diapause. DsRNA and siRNAs injected into females were effective in knocking down proteins in embryos into the fifth release. Five proteins were knocked down including the α -crystallin related small heat shock proteins (sHsps) p26, ArHsp21 and ArHsp22, artemin, a species-specific chaperone as well as p8 a transcription co-factor. The individual sHsps, artemin and p8 exhibited different roles during cyst development and diapause with only some of these proteins contributing to stress tolerance. p26, for example, enhances stress resistance in Artemia embryos, facilitates embryo development and prevents diapause termination indicated by spontaneous hatching. ArHsp21, another a-crystallin type small heat shock protein contributes only slightly to freezing and desiccation stress and is not protective during heat stress. DsRNA specific to ArHsp22 is lethal to both male and female adults. Artemin contributes to stress tolerance but to a lesser extent than p26. Artemin also extended the period of time over which cysts were released. Cysts that did not contain p8 were also less stress resistant than those that did contain p8 and hatched upon release 10% for the time, suggesting an important role in diapause. By revealing separate and novel roles for molecular chaperones this work contributes substantially to our understanding of diapause, an important, phylogenetically widespread developmental process.

List of Abbreviations and Symbols Used

ATP	adenosine 5'-triphosphate
com1	candidate of metastasis 1
DMSO	dimethylsulfoxide
dsRNA	double stranded RNA
ECL	enhanced chemoluminescence
EDTA	ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
GelDoc	Gel documentation system
GFP	green fluorescence protein
h	hour
HMG	high mobility group
Hsp	heat shock protein
Hsp21	ArHsp21
Hsp22	ArHsp22
HRP	horseradish peroxidase
HST	high salt tween
lgG	immunoglobulin G
Kda	kilodalton
min	minute
mRNA	messenger RNA
NUPR1	Nuclear protein 1
ORF	open reading frame
PAGE	poly acrylamide gel electrophoresis
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
RITS	RNAi-induced transcriptional silencing complex
RNA	ribonucleic acid

RNAi	RNA interference
RPM	rotations per minute
RSC	RNAi induced silencing complex
RT-PCR	reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction
shRNA	short hairpin RNA
siRNA	short interfering RNA
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulfate
sHsp	small heat shock protein
TBE	Tris/Borate/EDTA
TBS	Tris buffered saline
Tris	Tris-(hydromethyl)aminomethane
Tween	polyoxyethylene sorbitan monolaurate

Acknowledgements

I want to thank my supervisor, Dr. Thomas H. MacRae for his support, his strength of character and integrity were overwhelming and incredibly helpful in my progress and development as a scientist. Tom has been a mentor to me and helped develop the passion for science and teaching in me that I have yet to even realize and words can not express how grateful to him I am for that. I'd also like to thank my committee members for their invaluable support over the years Dr. Patrice Cote for his insightful questions and Dr. Sophia Stone for her impeccable attention to detail.

Secondly, I want to thank the wonderful and amazing people I have met in the lab for their help, support and endless conversations. You have all made this project possible and helped me when I didn't think it was anymore. I want to thank every one I met in the lab but Heather, Jinne, Yong and Jantina, none of you realize how much you have made this possible for me. Working with every one has taught me so much and I am so proud to call you all friends as well as colleagues.

To my friends and family your support has been what held me together outside of academia, and that might be what is most important. To my mom and sister thank you for always being there for me. To Richard who believed in this dream before I ever knew it existed, thank you for all your love and support.

Finally, I express my gratitude to Dr. Patrick Lett for financial assistance when I needed it most.

xiv

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Artemia franciscana

Artemia franciscana are crustaceans commonly known as brine shrimp or more colloquially as 'sea monkeys'. Members of the genus are distributed globally (Muñoz and Pacios, 2010), except for Antarctica, and depending on the area they colonize, can be considered an invasive species because A. franciscana out competes native species of Artemia (Amat et al., 2007; Muñoz et al., 2009). Adults of the species are approximately 1 cm long and they reach sexual maturity in about 3 weeks under laboratory conditions (Gilchrist, 1960). Once sexually mature, females produce several broods of offspring, typically releasing a brood every 5 days (Browne, 1980). Male adult Artemia are distinguished from females based on a number of features, notably their blue color, anterior pincers and lack of an egg sac at sexual maturity (Fig. 1). The female appears pink or orange when compared to the male and is often longer. A female is unfertilized if the egg sac consists of two distinct lateral sacs rather than one continuous sac. Between the male and female are several encysted embryos called cysts (Fig. 1). A. franciscana embryos may develop ovoviviparously, yielding free-swimming nauplii upon release from females. Or, embryos develop oviparously producing encysted gastrulae known as cysts, of approximately 4000 cells possibly forming syncytia, which are

Figure 1. Male and female adult *A. franciscana*. The female is pictured on the left and the male on the right in this light micrograph. Animals were fixed for 24 hours in 5% paraformaldehyde and imaged using an infinity 1.1 camera mounted on an olympus stereomicroscope. G, gut, H, head, C, claspers, E, egg sac containing cysts, O, developing oocytes.



encased by a protective shell (Clegg, 1974) (Fig. 2). Embryos produced oviparously enter diapause, a physiological state of dormancy characterized by enhanced stress tolerance (Clegg, 1997; MacRae, 2005). The relatively easy culturing conditions, large output of experimental material and small foot print make *Artemia* an extremely good model organism to study the molecular basis of diapause and stress tolerance.

1.2 Diapause, a state of dormancy and enhanced stress tolerance

Diapause is a widely distributed physiological state of developmental delay, characterized by dormancy and enhanced stress tolerance in organisms ranging from crustaceans to mammals, and it promotes survival under adverse conditions (Denlinger, 2002; MacRae, 2005, 2010; Koštál, 2006; Hahn and Denlinger, 2011; Ptak et al., 2012).

Enhanced stress resistance is closely associated with diapause but the degree to which diapause is a protective state varies widely. For example *Drosophila tiauraria* exhibits limited stress resistance during diapause and its cold tolerance increases only 0.7°C (Goto et al., 1998; Goto and Kimura, 2004). In contrast, encysted embryos of *A. franciscana* display tremendous stress tolerance while in diapause and quiescence, withstanding repeated freezing and thawing, desiccation, heat and years of anoxia (Clegg, 1994, 1997, 2005, 2007;

Figure 2. *A. franciscana* life history. Females release free swimming nauplii via the ovoviviparous pathway which then undergo a series of molts before reaching adulthood. Alternatively, females release stress tolerant encysted gastrulae via the oviparous pathway which enter diapause. Once diapause is terminated cysts develop into nauplii if conditions are favorable. If conditions are not favorable activated cysts are maintained in post-diapause quiescence until introduction to an environment conducive to development (adapted from Liang and MacRae, 1999).



Clegg et al., 1996, 2000). The degree of metabolic suppression during diapause is variable with some organisms remaining active and continuing to feed (Pasternak et al., 2009), while metabolism in embryos of *Artemia* is virtually halted (Clegg, 2011). Certain aspects of diapause including stress resistance and metabolic depression are more universal than others such as behavioral modifications in the diapause organism or changes in expression of common genes (MacRae, 2010). In some organisms, like the stem borer *Chilo suppressalis* (Xiao et al., 2010), diapause is facultative, induced by environmental changes such as photoperiod, temperature and crowding. In others, like *Artemia spp.* diapause is obligate and occurs as part of the life cycle regardless of other factors (Muñoz et al., 2010).

Diapause can be divided into three potentially overlapping phases known as initiation, maintenance and termination, although other sub-divisions of the process have been proposed with useful implications (Koštál, 2006). During initiation, organisms prepare for diapause by increased feeding, altered gene expression and changes in protein synthesis and accumulation. Initiation leads to maintenance which may include inhibition of DNA replication (Denlinger, 2002), metabolism (Reynolds and Hand, 2009), cell division (Tammariello and Denlinger, 1998) and inhibits apoptosis (Villeneuve et al., 2006). It is during the maintenance phase of diapause that individuals achieve maximum stress tolerance and metabolism is suppressed most dramatically. The last phase of diapause is termination, a signal mediated process. The termination signals include eytosteroids and juvenile hormone in some insects such as the flesh fly *Sarcophaga crassipalpis* (Fujiwara and Denlinger, 2007), but the molecular mechanisms regulated by these hormones are unknown. In *A. franciscana* cold, dehydration and H_2O_2 are used independently or jointly to terminate diapause by an undetermined mechanism under laboratory conditions (Robbins et al., 2010; Van Stappen et al., 1998).

Upon diapause termination organisms resume development if conditions are favorable or they enter quiescence where they remain dormant until encountering circumstances appropriate for growth (Koštál, 2006); these include temperature, aeration and hydration for *Artemia* (Sorgeloos, 1979). Stress tolerance persists during quiescence in *A. franciscana* (Clegg et al., 2000).

Diapause occurs in many distantly related families of organisms (Renfree and Shaw, 2000). The molecular mechanisms controlling diapause have not been elucidated for any organism and diapause in different species may be controlled by similar or different processes. If these regulatory mechanisms differ significantly in unrelated organisms exhibiting diapause, it suggests that the trait is convergent and has evolved independently in many different organisms to deal with stressful situations. Diapause occurs in embryos of *A. franciscana* (Clegg, 1997), larvae of the moth *Sesamia nonagrioides* (Gkouvitsas et al., 2009a, b), pupae of *S. crassipalpis* (Li et al., 2007) and adults of the mosquito *Culex pipiens* (Kim et al., 2010). This temporal plasticity makes convergent evolution of diapause much more likely than divergent evolution from a common ancestor (Alekseev and Starobogatov, 1996) meaning that dormancy and enhanced stress tolerance to harsh conditions evolved many times independently. Though diapause is phylogenetically wide spread it is most common in insects. Diapauses of many beneficial insects such as pollinators depend on environmental cues, namely temperature and day length (Kemp and Bosch, 2001), and may be altered by ongoing global climate change. Because diapause allows many pest organisms to over-winter and survive efforts by humans directed at their eradication an understanding of this developmental/physiological process has important repercussions for agriculture, forestry and medicine.

1.3 Classes of Molecular Chaperones

Newly synthesized proteins were classically thought to spontaneously attain proper tertiary structure within the cell and then maintain that structure until degradation. More recently molecular chaperones were demonstrated to assist in attaining or maintaining the tertiary structures of client proteins in the crowded cellular environment and during times of stress. There are several large classes of more or less ubiquitous molecular chaperones, sometimes termed heat shock proteins (HSPs) or stress proteins, and examples of species specific molecular chaperones such as artemin in *A. franciscana*.

The HSPs can be subdivided into at least 6 groups. The largest HSPs fall into the Hsp110 group and they function as nucleotide exchange factors for Hsp70, as well as operating as chaperones (Vos et al., 2008). A second group of high molecular weight HSPs makes up the Hsp104 family; these HSPs rescue unfolded proteins from aggregates and either help them to refold or target them for destruction in an energy dependent manner (Bösl et al., 2006). The ATPdependent, dimeric Hsp90 aids in protein folding and stability, often of regulatory proteins, and has roles in modifying gene expression and signaling (Wandinger et al., 2008; Hahn, 2009; Retzlaff et al., 2009). Members of the ATP dependent Hsp70 family are often up-regulated in response to stress where they re-fold damaged proteins but Hsp70 also folds nascent chains and like Hsp90 functions in protein degradation (Vos et al., 2008; Daugaard et al., 2007; Meimaridou et al., 2009). Hsp60, the structurally most complex chaperone consisting of two multimeric protein rings arranged back to back and requiring ATP for its function, folds newly made amino acid chains into functional proteins (Hartl and Hayer-Hartl, 2009). The sHSPs, a major focus of this thesis, prevent irreversible protein degradation in an energy independent fashion and have roles in protein degradation, stabilizing the cytoskeleton and preventing apoptosis (Laksanalamai and Robb, 2004; Sun and MacRae, 2005; Mchaourab et al., 2009)

Molecular chaperones function as networks of complementary proteins, each either performing a discrete function or co-operating with one or more other chaperones to ensure proper protein folding, protection, localization and degradation (Pratt et al., 2010). Nascent polypeptides are assisted by molecular chaperones in order to attain proper tertiary structure and prevent undesired interactions with other proteins which may lead to aggregation. Rather than guiding folding current models suggest that molecular chaperones allow unfolded polypeptides to experiment with different conformations in order to reach the native structure based on the lowest potential energy as compared with all other possible structures (Hartl et al., 2011).

1.3.1 sHSPs in Diapause-destined Artemia Embryos

In addition to their role in folding nascent proteins, molecular chaperones are strongly up regulated in response to many stressors including cold in Drosophila (Colinet et al., 2010), desiccation in snails (Mizrahi et al., 2010) and handling in sharks (Heberer et al., 2010). Molecular chaperones bind proteins that are partially denatured due to stress and either assist in their refolding or prevent irreversible protein degradation until the stress has passed. The sHSPs bind substrate proteins independent of a need for ATP, but require an energy dependent chaperone such as HSP70 for protein refolding to occur. Alternatively protein refolding after stress may occur spontaneously (Haslbeck, 2002). Molecular chaperones, including the sHSPs, are closely integrated with diapause in many different species (MacRae, 2010), as is the case in A. franciscana. Several sHSPs are up regulated during Artemia diapause including the α crystallin sHSPs, p26, ArHsp21 and ArHsp22 and the species specific ferritin homologue artemin. All four proteins have chaperone activity in in vitro turbidimetric assays (Qiu and MacRae, 2008 a, b; Villeneuve et al., 2006; Hu at al., 2011) and they show similar expression profiles during diapause.

sHSP monomers, which range from 15 to 42 kDa in molecular mass and tend to form oligomers, consist of an amino-terminus, a conserved α -crystallin domain and a carboxy-terminal extension (Sun and MacRae, 2005; Haslbeck et

al., 2005; Mchaourab et al., 2009; Basha et al., 2012). Dimerization, oligomerization and chaperone activity depend on the highly conserved α crystallin domain (Mchaourab et al., 2009; Hilario et al., 2011), while the aminoand carboxy-domains are required for maximum efficiency (Wu and MacRae, 2010; Chen et al., 2010; McDonald et al., 2012). In addition, the amino- and carboxy-terminal domains, the latter generally containing an I/V-X-V/I motif, contribute to substrate binding, subunit dynamics and solubility (Liao et al., 2009; Treweek et al., 2010; Jehle et al., 2011; McDonald et al., 2012). sHSP oligomers from some organisms exhibit identical guaternary structure (Kim et al., 1998; van Montfort et al., 2001; Kennaway et al., 2005), but in most cases oligomer structure is heterogeneous (Benesch et al., 2010). Each sHSP oligomer is capable of interacting with several partially denatured proteins without consuming ATP and this ability enables sHSP function in physiological situations of low energy characteristic of diapause. Binding of denatured proteins to sHSPs is promoted by temperature dependent increases in surface hydrophobicity which likely favors interaction with the newly exposed hydrophobic regions of unfolding client proteins (Lee et al., 1997; van Montfort et al., 2001; Stromer et al., 2004, Ghosh et al., 2005, 2006). Substrate interaction is thought to require rearrangement and/or disassembly of oligomers in some if not all species (Tiroli-Cepedaa and Ramos, 2010; McDonald et al., 2012).

1.3.2 Artemin, a ferritin homologue with chaperone activity

12

Artemin is an ATP independent molecular chaperone (Chen et al., 2007) which comprises 10-15% of the post-ribosomal protein in diapause cysts of *Artemia* (Warner et al., 2004; Tanguay et al., 2004) and confers stress tolerance in transfected mammalian cells (Chen et al., 2007). Artemin is a ferritin homologue (De Graaf et al., 1990) that does not bind iron because the carboxy terminal extension of the protein fills the cavity where iron typically resides and artemin is missing all but one of the residues in the di-iron ferroxidase center that allow iron binding in ferritin (Chen et al., 2003, 2007; Andrews, 2010). Artemin monomers associate in groups of 24 to form oligomers of approximately 600 kDa. Artemin, like ferritin, is extremely thermotolerant. Native artemin remains in solution when heated to 75 °C for 13 minutes and when bound to RNA stability is maintained for 30 minutes at 90°C (Hu et al., 2011; Warner et al., 2004).

Molecular modeling suggests that monomers of artemin contain five alpha helices, four in a parallel bundle and a shorter helix perpendicular to the bundle (Chen et al., 2003). Modification by site-directed mutagenesis indicates that unstructured loops of the protein, thought to aid in oligomerization, are important in thermostability and that surface hydrophobicity is important in chaperoning but not stability (Hu et al., 2011). The high degree of thermostability along with demonstrated *in vitro* chaperoning activity and abundant accumulation in cysts make artemin a good candidate for increasing stress resistance during the maintenance phase of diapause.

Although artemin exhibits 60% amino acid conservation with ferritin (Hu et al., 2011), artemin does not, as mentioned previously, bind metals. The ferritin

monomer consists of four alpha helices and the monomers oligomerize to form a hollow protein sphere critical for iron binding and storage (Chriton and Declercq, 2010). Like artemin, ferritin exhibits chaperone function *in vitro* (Chen et al., 2007). Analysis of virtually all ferritin sequences indicates that two of its helices, C and D, are the result of an internal duplication of helices A and B (Andrews, 2010). Ferritin monomers associate to form oligomers of 12 subunits found only in prokaryotes or 24 monomers in eukaryotes (Arosio et al., 2009). It is possible that ferritin protects cells from oxidative damage by storing iron in the cavity of the protein oligomer.

1.4 The Transcription Cofactor p8

The transcription cofactor p8 was first characterized when it was discovered to be strongly up regulated during acute pancreatitis (Mallo et al., 1997). p8, also known as nuclear protein 1 (NUPR1) and candidate of metastasis 1 (com1), shows a moderate degree of similarity (35%) to the high mobility group (HMG) proteins (Hoffmeister et al., 2002) but the AT hook motif is not conserved (Encinar et al., 2001). The members of the HMG family and p8 share basic structural properties as well as a bipartite nuclear localization signal (NLS) (Vasseur, 1999a). p8 is likely regulated by the ubiquitin/proteasome pathway as it contains a PEST region in the N-terminus (Goruppi and Iovanna, 2010). p8 is a basic helix-loop-helix type protein (Mallo et al., 1997) which ranges from 69 amino acids in the fruit fly to 82 amino acids in humans (Vasseur

et al., 1999a, b) and it binds DNA (Garcia-Montero et al., 2001). Nuclear localization, and the fact that p8 is a target of acetylation, ubiquitination, and sumoylation, indicates the protein regulates transcription (Qiu and MacRae, 2007; Garciá-Montero et al., 2001; Hoffmeister et al., 2002; Quirk et al., 2003; Goruppi et al., 2007; Carracedo et al., 2006a, b). p8 is expressed in the diapause destined embryos of *A. franciscana* first appearing at two days post fertilization and disappearing shortly after diapause ends making it a potential regulator of the synthesis of proteins involved in the downstream cascade of diapause-related events (Qiu and MacRae, 2007).

1.5 HSP Gene Expression during Stress

Virtually all organisms show altered gene expression during heat stress and begin to produce HSPs (Åkerfelt et al., 2010) and these HSP genes may be induced by stressors other than heat. The potato beetle *Leptinotarsa decemlineata* up regulates Hsp70 in response to cold shock (Lyytinen et al., 2012) demonstrating that synthesis of the protein is modulated by cold as well as heat. Desiccation leads to the up regulation of many HSPs in the land snails *S. zonata* and *S. cariosa* (Mizrahi et al., 2010) but no changes in expression are detected for either Hsp70 or Hsp90 genes in the dehydrated tardigrades, *Bertolanius volubilis* and *Ramazzottius oberhaeuseri* (Altiero et al., 2012). HSPs are up regulated in response to many different chemical stressors such as curcumin in frogs (*Xenopus laevis*) (Khan and Heikkila, 2011) or in response to anthracene, cadmium and chloridazone in the alga *Desmodesmus subspicatus* (Tukaj and Tukaj, 2010). HSPs are up regulated by a number of other stressors including radiation in *C. elegans* (Bertucci et al., 2009), handling in the copepod *Calanus finmarchicus* (Aruda et al., 2011) and viral infection in Vero E6 cells (Yu et al., 2009). Given the wide range of conditions that induce HSP production it is possible that almost any perturbation an organism experiences stimulates HSP production and it is useful to consider the HSPs more generally as stress proteins.

The diverse conditions that induce synthesis and accumulation of HSPs in different organisms show it is possible to deal with many stressors by increasing HSPs. The same stressor can have very dissimilar effects on HSPs in different organisms; for example land snails up regulate one Hsp90, two Hsp70s and two sHSPs in response to desiccation (Mizrahi et al., 2010) and at least one member of each of these families is expressed during desiccation in the nematode, Plectus murrayi (Adhikari et al., 2009). However, no change is seen in Hsp70 or Hsp90 family members during desiccation of tardigrades (Altiero et al., 2012). Variations in HSP synthesis occur in response to cold stress in different organisms. For example, the fruit fly, D. melanogaster, up regulates at least one member of the sHSP, Hsp40, Hsp60 and Hsp70 families, but not other Hsp60 and Hsp70s (Colinet et al., 2010). The fungus *Tuber melanosporum*, on the other hand, differentially regulates only two members of the sHSP family (Zampieri et al., 2011) whereas porcine fibroblast cells appear to up regulate only Hsp90 family members in response to cold stress (Li et al., 2012). Clearly, the

expression of HSPs in response to a given stressor is a common occurrence but there is wide variation in the number and types of HSPs up regulated upon exposure to the same stressor. This plasticity, along with the diversity of stressors that trigger HSP expression may allow for the functional overlap of HSPs during stress. If varying HSP families are turned on in different organisms encountering the same stress then it is possible that each performs the same function or that they work together cooperatively to perform a common function.

1.6 HSP Gene Expression during Diapause

Diapause is employed across species to deal with harsh conditions and presumably a wide variety of stressors. Some diapauses allow organisms such as the copepod *Calanoides acutus* to overwinter (Pond et al., 2012) while others help insects such as the cabbage beetle *Colaphellus bowringi* to avoid hot summer conditions (Kuang et al., 2011). Diapause in *A. franciscana* is especially protective probably due to the harsh conditions that encysted embryos encounter in their natural environment. Embryos are likely to wash up on shore where they are subject to freeze-thaw cycles, extreme heat or cold, high salt, desiccation and UV radiation. Embryos may sink and become buried in sediment and therefore they must be able to survive anoxic environments. HSPs are induced in response to many of these stressors and it would be beneficial to express them in advance of a period of potentially extreme stress like diapause. It has long been hypothesized that HSP synthesis in diapause organisms prevents permanent protein damage at high and low temperatures but due to the many stressors that cause their up regulation, HSPs undoubtedly protect against environmental parameters other than temperature.

Usually more than one chaperone is up regulated in response to a given stress or during diapause, likely because chaperones function together in networks (Haslbeck, 2002). sHSPs, Hsp70, Hsp90 and HSP60 are often up regulated during diapause (MacRae, 2010) and may co-operate in protein refolding once diapause terminates. sHSPs bind partially denatured proteins through hydrophobic interactions and deliver them, often via co-factors, to Hsp70 which is responsible for their ATP-dependent re-folding. Hsp90 may interact with Hsp70 leading to much greater folding efficiency and both chaperones may sequester proteins, especially in the absence of ATP. Differentially regulating the synthesis of proteins in the sHSP/Hsp70/Hsp90/HSP60 chaperone network in the low ATP conditions characteristic of organisms during diapause may maximize protein protection by sequestering proteins in association with these chaperones. The differential chaperone accumulation seen in several diapausing species has the potential to effectively stall the protein refolding machinery, maximizing the number of damaged proteins which are sequestered and ensuring that limited cell resources are not wasted by repeatedly folding, releasing and re-folding the same proteins.

Many organisms up regulate HSPs during diapause presumably to enhance stress resistance. The flesh fly *S. crassipalpis* up regulates Hsp70 and several sHSP family members during diapause, but the expression of Hsp90 is unaffected (Li et al., 2007). The reverse is true during diapause in the rice stem borer *Chilo suppressalis* where Hsp70 expression is constant and Hsp90 is up regulated (Sonoda et al., 2006), whereas in the closely related corn stem borer, *Sesamia nonagrioides*, Hsp70 and Hsp90 are both up regulated (Gkouvitas et al., 2008; 2009a,b). Diapausing *A. franciscana* embryos up regulate three sHSPs, ArHsp21, ArHsp22 and p26 (Liang and MacRae, 1999; Qiu and MacRae, 2008 a, b; Villeneuve et al., 2006) and a species specific molecular chaperone termed artemin (Chen et al., 2003).

1.7 Protein Function and RNA Interference (RNAi)

The expression of particular genes can be turned on and off as needed yielding proteins that are the functional workhorses of the cell. Proteins do most of the mechanical work of the cell, acting as gate keepers, engaging in local and long distance communication and participating in virtually all metabolic reactions. As such, elucidating protein function is vital to understanding cell activities and this task can be challenging (Whisstock and Lesk, 2003). Organisms often contain similar proteins, but these proteins may serve very dissimilar functions in diverse organisms or even within cells of the same organism (Lai and Gallo, 2009). To elucidate function, proteins are cloned into other organisms, often *Escherichia coli*, in order to study them *in vitro*. While useful insights are gleaned from this process it may not be a true measure of how a protein functions in the organism from which it was originally obtained. Proteins, much like organisms,

evolved to fill a certain niche, and similar proteins may function very differently when cloned into a different species or when purified and studied *in vitro* as is the case with p26.

Using RNAi technology specific mRNA transcripts can be targeted for degradation generating an organism without a particular protein/s. The resulting organism displays a loss-of-function phenotype and it may be possible to determine the function of the missing protein in vivo (Siomi and Siomi, 2009). RNAi can reveal the functions of newly identified proteins, show new functions for characterized proteins and identify new proteins involved in previously studied functions (Bellés, 2010). The knock down of proteins by RNAi is generally achieved by using long double stranded RNA (dsRNA) especially in nonmammalian systems, short interfering RNA (siRNA) and short hairpin RNA (shRNA) (Jinek and Doudna, 2009). Within cells, RNAi, discovered by Fire et al. (1998), is thought to be a nearly ubiquitous general antiviral response (Haasnoot et al., 2007; Li and Ding, 2006). If the dsRNA introduced into the cell is long, as in this study, it first interacts with the enzyme dicer (Bernstein et al., 2001) which, as its name suggests, cuts the dsRNA into short segments of 21-22 nucleotides called siRNAs. siRNAs may be introduced into the cell directly as done in this Intracellular siRNAs are key to generating the Argonaute based RNAi study. induced silencing complex (RISC) which targets and destroys the endogenous mRNA transcript matching the siRNAs (Hutvagner and Simard, 2008). Additionally, some organisms stop gene expression by enhanced nucleosome formation, thus reducing access of the transcriptional machinery to the gene

targeted by RNA within the nucleus (Schramke et al., 2005), a process involving the RNA-induced transcriptional silencing complex (RITS) which contains a specialized Argonaute family member (Grewal and Elgin, 2007).

In this study RNAi methodology was developed and employed in A. franciscana to study the function of several proteins previously shown by subtractive hybridization to be up regulated during diapause (Qiu and MacRae, These proteins include the three α -crystallin type sHSPs ArHsp21, 2007). ArHsp22 and p26 as well as a species specific molecular chaperone, artemin, all of which appear during post-fertilization development in diapause destined embryos. These proteins are not synthesized in embryos that develop directly into swimming nauplii. Additionally, the transcription co-factor, p8 was targeted using RNAi. p8, which is stress inducible, is up regulated during Artemia diapause and first detectable at two days post-fertilization. It was hypothesized when the work was initiated that p8 controls the expression of genes, such as those encoding HSPs, during diapause. RNAi was used in this study to knockdown proteins by injecting the egg sacs of unfertilized females with dsRNA. Specific knockdown of mRNA and proteins in diapause-destined Artemia embryos was respectively confirmed by reverse transcriptase PCR (RT-PCR) and immunoprobing of western blots. Females and resulting embryos were monitored for developmental and phenotypic changes as compared to control organisms injected with either dsRNA specific to green florescent protein (GFP) or control solution lacking dsRNA.

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods

2.1 Artemia culture and handling

Dehydrated *A. franciscana* cysts from the Great Salt Lake, Utah, USA (INVE Aquaculture, Salt Lake City, UT) were aerated for 48 h in 1 l Erlenmeyer flasks each containing 1 l of filtered, autoclaved sea water from Halifax Harbor (sea water). Upon termination of aeration cultures were left undisturbed for 30 min, cyst shells were removed from the surface and hatched nauplii were incubated at room temperature with light aeration in small aquaria containing sea water. The *Artemia* were grown to maturity by daily feeding of *Isochrysis sp.* algae obtained from The Provasoli-Guillard National Center for Culture of Marine Phytoplankton (CCMP).

Mature males and females were maintained in different 1 I containers. For fertilization and embryo production females were placed in 6-well plates (Liang and MacRae, 1999) and males were introduced. Adults were handled using a modified disposable 10 ml pipette that had the narrow end removed and filed so adults were not damaged. Mating pairs were fed daily and fecal material was removed. Dead adults and those showing signs of infection or illness were discarded. Encysted embryos (cysts) were collected upon release from females and incubated for at least 10 days in sea water in small hexagonal weigh boats covered in foil to ensure metabolic arrest and initiation of diapause. Weigh boats were used to culture animals for molecular techniques and hatching experiments.
To follow their development into adulthood and examine subsequent cyst production, nauplii arising from females in culture were incubated in hexagonal weigh boats at room temperature and fed daily until sexual maturity. To prevent evaporation, weigh boats were topped with un-stretched Parafilm (Fisher Scientific, Mississauga, Ontario) containing a hole to allow light penetration. To terminate diapause, cysts were dried in a desiccator over Dryrite (Dryrite, Nashville, TN, USA) for at least 4 weeks, followed by transfer to -20°C for at least 8 weeks.

2.2. Development of a microinjection procedure for adult Artemia

To optimize the procedure for delivery of dsRNA to *Artemia* the number of animals that succumbed to injection was initially determined in the absence of dsRNA by injecting groups of approximately 12 organisms with control solution not containing dsRNA. Adult males and females were injected. After discarding animals that were morphologically or behaviorally abnormal the groups were monitored for 3 days to determine when and how many animals died in comparison to a similar group that was not injected.

In order to determine if knockdown of molecular chaperones had an effect on females or offspring mated pairs were observed daily using a stereo microscope. The time of fertilization, type of embryo produced, appearance and time to release of cysts and nauplii, and the day the egg sac emptied, were recorded for each injected adult. Whether translucent cysts were empty or contained an embryo was determined by breaking the cyst shell with a sharp dissecting probe. If embryos were present cyst contents streamed into the surrounding medium when the shell was broken. Observations were made to assess protein function such as time between fertilization and release of cysts from females and to monitor cysts for abnormalities.

2.3 Protein Knockdown by RNAi

2.3.1 Preparation of dsRNAs and siRNAs

pRSET C plasmids (Invitrogen, Burlington, Ont., Canada) containing cDNA for p26, ArHsp21, ArHsp22 and p8 were harvested from overnight cultures of BL21(DE3)pLysS *E. coli* (Invitrogen) (Liang and MacRae, 1999; Qiu and MacRae, 2007; Qiu and MacRae, 2008a, b). Artemin cDNA was harvested from *E. coli* BL21PRO (Clontech Laboratories, Inc., Mississauga, ON) transformed with the prokaryotic expression vector pPROTet.E133 using a miniprep kit (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, Ont., Canada) (Chen et al., 2003). The DNA was harvested from overnight cultures as above. These cDNAs were amplified using primers obtained from Integrated DNA Technologies (IDT), Coralville, IA, USA, and under the reaction conditions described in Table 1.

The T7 promoter sequence (TAATACGACTCACTATAGG) was added to the 5' end of all primers used for dsRNA production. PCR was carried out with Platinum® Taq DNA polymerase (Invitrogen) using cDNA from mini-preps according to manufacturer's instructions. Table 1. Primers used to generate dsRNA for molecular chaperones up regulated

during diapause.	The T7 promoter	sequence is	highlighted in blue.
------------------	-----------------	-------------	----------------------

Chaperone	Forward primer	Reverse primer	Reaction conditions
p26	5'- TAATACGACTCACTA TAGGGAGACCACTC CCAGAACATGTCAA ACCA-3'	5'- TAATACGACTCACTATA GGGAGACCACTGCAC CTCCTGATCTTGTTG-3	5 min at 94°C, 30 cycles of 94°C for 30 sec, 59°C for '30 sec and 72°C for 1 min, followed by 10 min at 72°C
ArHsp21	5'- TAATACGACTCACTA TAGGGAGACAAAGC GTTACCATCGTCCT- 3'	5'- TAATACGACTCACTATA GGGAGAGTTTTCTGCT CGCACTTTCC-3'	5 min at 94°C, 30 cycles of 94°C for 30 sec, 57°C for 30 sec and 72°C for 1 min, followed by 10 min at 72°C
ArHsp22	5'- TAATACGACTCACTA TAGGGAAAGCCTGG TAGTTGCATGG-3'	5'- TAATACGACTCACTATA GGGAGAAAAGCCTGG TAGTTGCATGG-3'	5 min at 94°C, 30 cycles of 94°C for 30 sec, 62°C for 30 sec and 72°C for 1 min, followed by 10 min at 72°C
artemin	5'- TAATACGACTCACTA TAGGGAGATGCATC GGTTCACAAGGA-3'	5'- TAATACGACTCACTATA GGGAGATCAAGGCAC GATTGATGG-3'	5 min at 94°C, 30 cycles of 94°C for 30 sec, 61°C for 30 sec and 72°C for 1 min, followed by 10 min at 72°C

The PCR products were resolved by electrophoresis in 1.5% agarose gels in 0.5 x TBE buffer (50 mM TRIS, 50 mM boric acid and 1 mM EDTA, pH 8.0) at 100 V, stained with Gelstar® (Lonza, Basel, Switzerland) or cybersafe (Invitrogen) and visualized in a DNR Bio-imagining Systems MF-ChemiBIS 3.2 Gel Documentation system (Montreal Biotech, Montreal, Quebec, Canada). The PCR products described above were employed as templates in a 3 h incubation to generate dsRNA using the MEGAscript® RNAi kit (Ambion Applied Biosystems, Austin, TX, USA), which exploits the attached T7 promoter sequence, according to manufacturer's instructions. The dsRNA was resolved by agarose gel electrophoresis as described.

As a control for RNAi procedures dsRNA specific to green fluorescence protein (GFP) was generated using the forward (5'-TAATACGACTCACTAAG GGAGACACATGAAGCAGCACGACTT-3') and reverse (5'-TAATACGACTCAC TATAGGGAGAAGTTCACCTTGATGCCGTTC-3') primers from IDT (Zhao et al., 2012). The GFP cDNA used as template was cloned in the vector pEGFP-N1 (Clonetech, Mountain View, CA, USA). The conditions and materials described above were used to produce dsRNA for GFP except that the annealing temperature was 60°C and the MgCl₂ concentration was 2.25 mM.

Several attempts were made to produce dsRNA specific to p8 using 12 different primer pairs with the T7 promoter sequence attached but none of these was successful. siRNAs for p8 were designed using Ambion's siRNA target finder software. The program returned 31 potential siRNAs which were then BLAST searched in NCBI databases to select sequences with the least potential

for off target effects. Five p8 siRNAs were selected that lacked matches to sequences in genes from *Artemia* and those organisms closely related to *Artemia*.

2.3.2 Injection of A. franciscana with dsRNA and siRNA

dsRNA and elution solution from the dsRNA kit were mixed separately in a 1:1 ratio (v/v) with 0.5% phenol red in Dulbecco's phosphate buffered saline (DPBS) (Sigma-Aldrich). The mixture of elution solution and phenol red lacking dsRNA was termed control solution. Two hundred and fifty nl of dsRNA and control solution were introduced individually into the egg sacs of different mature Artemia females, or the ocular extension in males, using a Nanoject II microinjector (Drummond Scientific Co., Broomall, PA, USA). Needles were prepared with preset program 33 on a p97 Flaming/Brown Micropipette Puller (Sutter Instrument Co., Novato, CA, USA) and broken at 45° using fine forceps under an Olympus SZ61 stereomicroscope (Olympus, Markham, Ontario, Canada) (Copf et al., 2004). Females destined to produce cysts and nauplii, as indicated by the presence or absence of a shell gland and the coloration of oocytes (Anderson et al., 1970; Liang and MacRae, 1999), were immobilized using a cooled 3% agar bed, gently blotted with Kimwipes and injected. The injected females were rinsed off the agar plates with sea water into six well plates. siRNAs were injected in the same way, first individually for assessment of knockdown using immunoprobing, and then the three siRNAs showing the greatest degree of knockdown were pooled and microinjected.

Adults were monitored for at least 3 h after injection and only those that returned to normal morphology by straightening their tails and assumed typical swimming and feeding behavior were used in experiments. Females were monitored for retention of inoculum for 3 h, and those females losing the dye within this time were discarded. Females were observed with an Olympus SZ61 stereomicroscope to determine the time of fertilization which was marked by fusion of lateral egg sacs after introduction of a male. Embryo development and other morphological or physiological changes were also observed by microscopy. Hatched nauplii were raised to sexual maturity in small hexagonal weigh boats as described above. Females were observed for 5 fertilizations and embryo releases or until death.

2.4 Knockdown of mRNA and protein by RNAi

2.4.1 Evaluation of mRNA Knockdown by RT-PCR

Knockdown of mRNA was assessed using RT-PCR. Hydrated cysts from females receiving either dsRNA specific to the target protein or GFP purified with the RNAeasy kit (Quiagen, Mississauga, Ontario), or control solution were homogenized with a microfuge pestle (Fisher) in 600 μ l of RLT reagent from the RNAeasy kit and passed through a 20 gauge needle 10 times. The mixture was centrifuged in a microcentrifuge for 1 min at 500 RPM (500 g) and the supernatant was transferred to a fresh tube. Following manufacturer's instructions the purified mRNA was reverse transcribed with the Superscript III first strand synthesis system for RT-PCR (Invitrogen) using oligo-dT supplied in the kit. The cDNA generated in this reaction was then amplified using forward and reverse primers from IDT and Taq polymerase (Fermentas) under the conditions listed (Table 2) using 4 μ I of cDNA from the first strand reaction. In order to determine if the RNA samples used in these experiments contained contaminating genomic DNA the reverse transcriptase reaction was omitted prior to amplification. The final RT-PCR products were resolved in 2% agarose gels in 0.5 x TBE buffer at 100 V, stained with Sybersafe (Invitrogen) and visualized in a DNR Bio-Imaging Systems MF-ChemiBIS 3.2 gel documentation system.

Target	¹ Numb	Forward primer	Reverse primer	Reaction conditions
protein	er of			
	cysts			
p26	50	5'-	5'-	5 min at 94°C, 40
		TAATACGACTCA	TAATACGACTCA	cycles of 94°C for 30
		CTATAGGGAGA	CTATAGGGAGA	sec, 59°C for 30 sec
		CCACTCCCAGA	CCACTGCACCT	and 72°C for 1 min,
		ACATGTCAAAC	CCTGATCTTGT	followed by 10 min at
		CA-3'	TG-3'	72°C
ArHsp21	58	5'-	5'-	5 min at 94°C, 40
		AGACCACAATC	ATCAATCTTGAC	cycles of 94°C for 30
		CCGTCACCTGT	GTCCTCGGGCT	sec, 60°C for 30 sec
		TT3'	T3'	and 72°C for 1 min,
				followed by 10 min at
				72°C
artemin	34	5'-	5'-	5 min at 94°C, 40
		TICIAIGCCAGA	CCACGGCAGC	cycles of 94°C for 30
		CGCCAAGGCIG	CIIGGCGICIC	sec, 60°C for 30 sec
		CCGTGG-3	IGGCAIAGAA-3	and 72°C for 1 min,
				followed by 10 min at 72°C
p8	81	5'-	5'-	5 min at 94°C, 40
•		TCGGAAGTCCG	ACATGATGTTT	cycles of 94°C for 30
		GGACCTATAGA	GAGGTTTTG-3'	sec, 62°C for 30 sec
		AT-3'		and 72°C for 1 min,
				followed by 10 min at
				72°C

Table 2. Primers and reaction conditions for RT-PCR confirmation of mRNA

knockdown

1, Number of cysts homogenized for each PCR reaction.

2.4.2 Evaluation of Protein Knockdown by Immunoprobing of Western Blots

Protein extracts from cysts obtained from females injected with either dsRNA specific to the target protein, dsRNA for GFP or control solution were resolved in SDS polyacrylamide gels. Prior to electrophoresis cysts at room temperature were transferred to ice cold distilled water and collected by centrifugation for 1 min at 500 RPM (20 g) using a microcentrifuge. The supernatant was discarded and each tube received 10 μ l of sample buffer and 10 µl of ice cold Pipes buffer (100 mM Pipes, 1 mM MqCl₂, 1 mM EGTA, pH 7.4) and the cysts were homogenized using a microfuge pestle. The homogenate was placed in a boiling water bath for 5 min. All tubes were centrifuged for 10 min at 10000 RPM (8600 g) in a microcentrifuge at 4°C and 15 μ l of each protein sample was resolved in 12.5% SDS polyacrylamide gels using a constant current of 35 mA for approximately 45 min. Proteins were then transferred to nitrocellulose membranes at 100 mA overnight at room temperature. Fermentas plus pre-stained protein ladders (Fermentas, Glen Burnie, MD, USA) were used as molecular mass markers.

Membranes with cyst proteins were incubated in 8% Carnation non fat milk solution for 1 h followed by exposure for 20 min at room temperature to antibody raised against the target protein diluted as indicated (Table 3) in 10 mM TRIS containing 140 mM NaCl, pH 7.4 (TBS). The membranes were washed 3 times for 5 min in 10 mM TRIS containing 140 mM NaCl and 0.1% Tween 20, pH 7.4

Target protein	¹ Number of cysts	Antibody name	Antibody dilution	Reference
p26	25	Rabbit anti p26	1:10000	Liang and
P=0		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		MacRae, 1999 Qiu and
ArHsp21	55	Rabbit anti ArHsp21	1:7500	MacRae 2008a
			4 0000	Qiu and
ArHsp22	88	Rabbit anti ArHsp22	1:2000	MacRae, 2008b
artemin	42	Babbit anti artemin	1.20000	Chen et al.,
			1.20000	2007
p8	53	Rabbit anti p8	1:2000	Qiu and
•		•		MacRae, 2007

Table 3. Conditions for immunoprobing of western blots to confirm knockdown of target proteins

1. Number of cysts used to prepare protein extract for each lane of a SDS polyacrylamide gel.

(TBS-Tween), and then 3 times for 5 min in 10 mM TRIS containing 1M NaCl, 0.5% Tween 20, pH 7.4 (HST). The membranes were incubated in HRPconjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG (Sigma-Aldrich) diluted 1:10000 in TBS. The membranes were washed as above in TBS-Tween and HST and antibodyreactive proteins were visualized with ECL plus western blotting detection reagents (GE Healthcare, Baie d'Urfe Quebec, Canada) and a DNR Bio-Imaging Systems MF-ChemiBIS 3.2 gel documentation system.

2.5 Determining the effect of protein knockdown on Artemia cysts

2.5.1 Assessment of cyst metabolic activity

Metabolic activity was evaluated using an assay modified from Yang and Balcarcel (2003). Ten cysts, either with or without p26, were incubated immediately after release from females in 100 μ l of test solution consisting of seawater containing 1000 U penicillin, 100 μ g/ml streptomycin sulfate (Warner et al., 1979) and 0.03% phenol red at pH 8.5 in covered Costar 96 well UV plates (Corning Inc., Corning, NY, USA). Other wells contained test solution only or test solution with 10 commercially produced quiescent cysts (INVE Aquaculture, Inc.). The absorbance of test solutions at 553 nm (A₅₅₃) was determined with a SPECTRAmax PLUS microplate reader (Molecular Devices, Sunnyvale, CA, USA) at 24 h intervals after addition of cysts to wells. To measure A₅₅₃ the test solution from each well, excluding cysts, was transferred to a fresh well. Absorbance values were corrected for changes that occurred in test solutions in

the absence of added cysts. After A_{553} determination residual liquid was removed with autoclaved Q-tips from the original wells containing cysts and 100 μ l of fresh test solution was added for the next 24 h incubation.

2.5.2 Establishing the effect of protein knockdown on the rate of embryo development

Once females had been mated with males and placed into 6-well plates they were observed daily using a stereomicroscope. The date of fertilization, denoted by egg sac fusion, release and type of embryos were recorded. Six-well plates were housed in an Adaptis chamber (Conviron, Winnipeg, MB, Canada) set to a 16:8 hour light:dark cycle at 18 and 16°C respectively when plates were not being observed. Results were then subjected to statistical analysis inluding ttests.

2.5.3 Determining the effect of protein knockdown on diapause termination

Cysts collected from female *A. franciscana* exposed to either dsRNA specific to the target protein, dsRNA for GFP or control solution were incubated in 15 ml of sea water for at least 90 days at room temperature in sealed 15 ml conical centrifuge tubes. The cysts were flushed into a hexagonal weigh boat by spraying sea water from a wash bottle into the tube and then observed for two weeks to determine if hatching occurred.

2.5.4 Ascertaining the effect of protein knockdown on the ability of *Artemia* cysts to tolerate stress associated with diapause breakage

Cysts collected from female *A. franciscana* exposed to either dsRNA targeting a specific protein, GFP or control solution were incubated in sea water for 10 days at room temperature in hexagonal weigh dishes covered with aluminum foil (Clegg and Conte, 1980). To break diapause the cysts were then dried in a desiccator over Dryrite for at least 4 weeks, followed by transfer to -20°C for at least 8 weeks. To quantify diapause breakage as indicated by hatching, cysts processed as just described were incubated in sea water at room temperature during which nauplii were counted and removed. Counting continued for at least 10 days and ceased 5 days after the last nauplius emerged.

2.6 Determining the effect of protein knockdown on heat tolerance of *Artemia* cysts

To generate a standard curve establishing the effect of temperature on hatching, 100 commercially obtained cysts were hydrated at 4°C for at least 4 h in 500 μ l of seawater. The cysts were then incubated in a water bath for 30 min at temperature increments of 2°C followed by incubation in 25 ml of sea water at room temperature during which nauplii were counted and removed as described

above. The experiment was done in triplicate and stopped when no nauplii had hatched for 5 days.

Laboratory produced cysts lacking p26 that hatched spontaneously and commercially obtained cysts possessing p26 were incubated either at room temperature or at 41°C for 30 min and their hatching was assessed as described previously.

With the exception of experiments examining p26, dehydrated and frozen cysts, prepared as described above, were obtained from *A. franciscana* females either injected with dsRNA specific to the target protein, dsRNA for GFP or control solution. The broods were divided, with half of the cysts heated at 41°C for 30 min and the remainder kept at room temperature. After heating the cysts were incubated in sea water and hatching was quantified by counting nauplii. The experiment was performed in triplicate.

2.7 Determining the effect of dsRNA specific to ArHsp22 on adult Artemia

In order to determine the effects of dsRNA specific to ArHsp22 groups of 12 animals were injected with either control solution or dsRNA specific to ArHsp22. This experiment was performed in triplicate with groups of males and females. After discarding animals that were morphologically or behaviorally abnormal the groups were then monitored for 4 days to determine when and how many animals succumbed to injection of dsRNA specific to ArHsp22 in comparison to a group that was injected with control solution only.

Chapter 3: Results

3.1 Injection of Artemia adults with dsRNA

Prior to fertilization female *Artemia* destined to produce cysts possessed green oocytes similar in colour to those pictured in Liang and MacRae, 1999. positioned in two egg sacs separated by a brown shell gland. (Figs. 3A, B). Injection of an egg sac with either dsRNA specific to the target protein or control solution, both containing phenol red, stained the entire female, demonstrating that inoculum migrated readily throughout the animal (Figs. 3C, D). Approximately 90% of females exhibited phenol red staining 2 h post-injection but the dye disappeared by the next day. Appendages normally visible on adult *Artemia* and poorly resolved in the upper third of Fig. 3B are obscured at the lower magnifications (Figs.3 A, C, D) because animals were immobilized on the surface of cold agarose and partially dried by blotting with a Kim Wipe prior to injection. Males were injected in the unprotected area of the cephalon where claspers originate.

Fig. 3. Injection of a female primed to produce cysts. All light micrographs are of the same animal. A. *Artemia* female prior to fertilization with the shell gland and egg sacs boxed; B. boxed region of Fig A enlarged; C, injection of dsRNA into the egg sac; D, an injected female which has retained phenol red for 2 h and assumed normal morphology. G, gut; ES, egg sac; M, microneedle SG, shell gland.



3.2 p26 has multiple roles in *Artemia* embryos

3.2.1 p26 dsRNA specifically knocked down p26 mRNA and protein

p26 dsRNA used for injection of *Artemia* females migrated in agarose gels at the expected size, slightly larger than the cDNA from which it originated (Fig. 4A). Electrophoresis of RT-PCR products yielded a band in agarose gels stained with gelstar (Lonza, Switzerland) when mRNA from cysts produced by *Artemia* females injected with control solution was used for amplification (Fig. 4B). When the mRNA was from cysts generated in females injected with p26 dsRNA the PCR product was greatly diminished (Fig 4B). Omission of reverse transcriptase revealed the essential absence of genomic DNA contamination in samples used for PCR (Fig. 4B). To ensure that cyst count was an appropriate measure for determining the amount of sample in experiments hydrated cysts were measured (n = 1426) revealing an average diameter of 242 μ m with a standard deviation of 12 μ m. Over 95% of the cysts measured were between 218 μ m and 266 μ m (Appendix 1).

As revealed by immunoprobing of western blots, p26 occurred in cysts released from females injected with control solution and GFP, the latter not shown, but the protein was not detectable in cysts from females receiving p26 dsRNA even when blots were over-exposed (Fig. 4C). ArHsp21 and ArHsp22 (Fig. 4C), sHSPs similar to p26 and synthesized in diapause-destined *Artemia* embryos, were unaffected by p26 dsRNA specific to p26.

40

Fig. 4: Knock down of p26. Panel A, production of p26 dsRNA as described in Materials and Methods. Amplification products were resolved by electrophoresis in 1.2% agarose gels and stained with Gelstar®. Lane 1, size markers; 2, p26 cDNA; 3, p26 dsRNA. Marker size in base pairs is on the left of the figure. Panel B, amplification of p26 mRNA by RT-PCR using RNA from cysts released by females injected with either p26 dsRNA (1, 3) or control solution (2, 4). Lanes 1 and 2, RNA samples were incubated with reverse transcriptase; 3 and 4, RNA samples were not incubated with reverse transcriptase. Electrophoresis was in 1.2% agarose and gels were stained with Gelstar[®]. Panel C. Protein extracts from 25 cysts (26) and 40 cysts (21, 22) produced by females injected with either p26 dsRNA (1) or control solution (2) were resolved in 12.5% SDS polyacrylamide gels and blotted to nitrocellulose. The blots were reacted with antibody specific to p26 (26), ArHsp21 (21) and ArHsp22 (22), followed by HRPconjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG antibody. Proteins were visualized by chemiluminescence.



3.2.2 Determination of metabolic activity in newly released cysts

Groups of ten cysts that contained p26 (blue), cysts that did not contain p26 (red) and quiescent cysts that hatched into nauplii (green) were incubated in seawater containing phenol red for four days and monitored daily for colour changes. Cysts containing and lacking p26 showed a similar initial metabolism and a similar slowdown in metabolism after release, while hatching cysts showed increasing metabolism over two days and then lowered metabolism because they were not being fed (Fig. 5).

3.2.3 Loss of p26 slows the development of diapause-destined Artemia embryos

The time from fertilization to release of either cysts or nauplii (time to release) was approximately 5 days for first broods from females injected with control solution, this was comparable to the time to release of nauplii from females injected with p26 dsRNA (Table 4) and for nauplii and cysts from non-injected females. In contrast, injection of females with p26 dsRNA increased the time to release for first brood cysts to approximately 7 days (Table 4). The developmental delay imposed by elimination of p26 persisted for at least 3 additional broods from the same female, the maximum number observed (Fig 6). No p26 was detectable by immunoprobing of western blots containing protein

Fig. 5. The metabolic activities of p26 knock down and control cysts are similar. The metabolic activity of cysts containing p26 (blue) and those that do not (red) as well as commercially obtained cysts (green) are shown. Ten cysts were incubated in sea water that contained 0.03% phenol red, pH 8.6, and the change in absorbance was measured at 553 nm. AU, arbitrary units. Colour change over 24 hours indicated level of metabolism. Error bars show standard error.



Table 4. Elimination of p26 slows *Artemia* embryo development. The change in time from fertilization to release of cysts and nauplii (Δ Days) for first broods from females injected with either dsRNA or control solution was compared using a two sided t test.

	Time to rele -p26	ease (Days) +p26	∆ Days	p-value
Cysts	7.6	4.7	2.9	0.0313
Nauplii	4.7	4.2	0.5	0.3878

Fig. 6. The knockdown of p26 persisted through 4 broods. The time between fertilization and release (time to release) for nauplii from females injected with control solution (blue), nauplii from females injected with p26 dsRNA (red), cysts from females injected with control solution (green), cysts from females injected with dsRNA (purple) is shown with error bars representing standard error (n= 3 - 12). The inset shows a western blot of protein extract from 15 cysts in four successive broods (lanes 1 - 4) obtained from females injected with p26 dsRNA and probed with antibody to p26 (top) and ArHsp21 (bottom). Lane C, protein extract from commercial cysts containing p26 and ArHsp21.



from cysts experiencing developmental delays although stripping of blots and probing with antibody to ArHsp21 gave strong bands (inset, Fig 6). Delays in embryo development did not extend to subsequent generations of females arising from cysts produced by animals injected with dsRNA and these females produced cysts with normal amounts of p26.

3.2.4 Loss of p26 leads to spontaneous termination of diapause

After incubation in sea water at room temperature for at least 90 days approximately 90% of cysts lacking p26 hatched upon transfer to weigh boats, indicating diapause had terminated (Fig. 7, A-D). Under the same experimental conditions cysts containing p26 did not hatch (Fig. 7 E, F). This experiment was performed in triplicate.

3.2.5 p26 contributes to the stress tolerance of Artemia cysts

Diapause was terminated in laboratory generated cysts by 4 weeks of desiccation followed by 8 weeks at -20°C. Hatching success varied with this procedure and in the example shown 58% of cysts containing p26 survived diapause termination and hatched as opposed to only 6% of cysts lacking p26 (Fig. 8). Hatching data after diapause termination by desiccation and freezing

Fig. 7. p26 prevents spontaneous diapause termination. A. Cysts lacking (-p26) and containing (+p26) p26 were incubated without agitation in sealed tubes for at least 90 days, transferred to weigh boats and observed with a dissecting microscope for 5 days after the last cyst hatched. Error bars represent standard error. B - F. Light micrographs showing the development, or absence thereof, for cysts lacking (B - D) and containing (E, F) p26. c, cyst; e, emerged cyst; es, eye spot. The nauplii shown in Fig D originated from commercial cysts and they are representative of nauplii obtained from laboratory reared cysts lacking p26.



Fig. 8. p26 enhances the stress tolerance of *Artemia* cysts. Diapause of *Artemia* cysts either containing (+p26) or lacking (-p26) p26 was terminated by desiccation and freezing. The cysts were then incubated in sea water at room temperature and hatched nauplii were counted and removed. The results are given as the percentage of cysts that hatched with hatching an indicator of diapause termination and cyst viability. Error bars indicate standard error.



indicated that p26 contributes to stress protection and to test this idea, cysts were heat shocked. Generation of a standard curve demonstrated that 56% of cysts survived exposure to 41°C for 30 min and these conditions were chosen for subsequent heat shock experiments (Fig. 9, top).

Hatching of cysts exposed to temperatures higher than 35°C was delayed when compared to the hatching of cysts incubated at lower temperatures. The duration of emergence, that is, the time taken for a membrane-enclosed nauplius to completely exit the cyst, was also longer as stress increased (data not shown). Groups of commercial cysts containing p26 and broods of laboratory reared cysts lacking p26 which terminate diapause without desiccation and freezing (Fig. 9, bottom), were divided in half and transferred to weigh boats either after incubation at room temperature or heating at 41°C for 30 min. For p26 containing cysts 91% and 52% respectively of unheated and heated cysts hatched whereas when p26 was absent 71% of unheated and 30% of heated cysts hatched (Fig. 9, bottom). Cysts from different sources were compared because terminating diapause in laboratory produced cysts required exposure to stress, namely desiccation and freezing. The findings demonstrate that p26 increased cyst tolerance to heat shock.

Fig. 9. Heat tolerance of *Artemia* cysts. Groups of 100 hydrated cysts were placed in 200 μ l of sea water and heated for 30 min at the indicated temperatures (top). The cysts were then incubated at room temperature and the hatched nauplii were counted and removed. Hatching continued until no nauplii emerged for 5 consecutive days. The experiment was performed in triplicate and the error bars represent standard error. The bottom panel shows maximum heat tolerance of cysts depends on p26. Cysts containing (+p26) and lacking (-p26) p26 were either held at room temperature (a) or heated at 41°C for 30 min (b), cooled on ice, incubated in sea water and observed for hatching (heated). Results are presented as the hatching percentage with hatching equivalent to viability. Error bars represent standard error.



3.3 ArHsp21 is not required for completion of diapause.

3.3.1Generation of ArHsp21 dsRNA and injection of Artemia females

When resolved in agarose gels ArHsp21 cDNA and dsRNA yielded bands of the expected size, with the dsRNA slightly larger than the cDNA (Fig. 10A). dsRNA representing ArHsp21 and GFP and control solution, each containing phenol red, were injected separately into the egg sacs of unfertilized adult *A. franciscana* females. Those animals retaining dye and resuming normal behavior 3 h after the injection were used in subsequent experiments.

3.3.2 Knockdown of ArHsp21 mRNA and protein in Artemia embryos

As determined by RT-PCR the injection of *Artemia* females with dsRNA completely knocked down ArHsp21 mRNA (Fig. 10B). There was no genomic DNA contamination in the mRNA prepared from cysts employed in these experiments. The ArHsp21 protein was knocked down by injection of females with dsRNA for ArHsp21 (Fig. 10C). The knock down was specific because injection of females with control solution (Fig. 10C) and dsRNA for GFP did not affect ArHsp21expression. Elimination of ArHsp21 did not effect the expression of ArHsp22.

Fig. 10. Injection of females with dsRNA for ArHsp21 specifically knocks down ArHsp21. Panel A. Lane 1, Generuler 1 kb DNA size markers; 2, cDNA used to generate dsRNA; 3, dsRNA specific to ArHsp21 produced with the MEGAscript RNAi kit. Electrophoresis was in 1.2% agarose and RNA was visualized with Gel star. The size of markers is given in bp on the left side of the gel. Panel B, amplification was performed by RT-PCR using RNA from cysts released by females injected with either ArHsp21 dsRNA (1, 3) or control solution (2, 4). Lanes 1 and 2, RNA samples were incubated with reverse transcriptase; 3 and 4, RNA samples were not incubated with reverse transcriptase. Electrophoresis was in 1.2% agarose and gels were stained with Sybersafe®. Panel C, protein extracts from 60 cysts (21 and 22) produced by females injected with either ArHsp21 dsRNA (1) or control solution (2) were resolved in 12.5% SDS polyacrylamide gels and blotted to nitrocellulose. The blots were reacted with antibody specific to ArHsp21 (21) then stripped and re-probed with antibody specific to ArHsp22 (22) followed in each case by HRP-conjugated goat antirabbit IgG antibody. Proteins were visualized by chemiluminescence.


3.3.3 Knocking down ArHsp21 had no effect on the development of diapausedestined embryos

Artemia females injected with dsRNA specific to ArHsp21 behave normally and survive injection as well as those females injected with either dsRNA for GFP or control solution, and they were fertilized when introduced to males. The rate of embryo development was not significantly different between diapausedestined embryos that contained ArHsp21 and those that did not (P-value =0.86)

3.3.4 Cysts lacking ArHsp21 fail to spontaneously break diapause

Cysts released from females injected with dsRNA specific to ArHsp21 were placed in seawater in 15 ml conical centrifuge tubes and incubated for at least 90 days at room temperature. When flushed into hexagonal weigh boats the cysts lacking ArHsp21 did not hatch spontaneously as occurred for cysts lacking p26 (Not shown).

3.3.5 Cysts lacking ArHsp21 retain stress tolerance

After diapause termination by desiccation and freezing, 54% and 47% respectively of cysts containing and lacking ArHsp21 hatched, a difference that was significant but varied by only 7% (Fig. 11). The resulting nauplii grew to sexual maturity and reproduced normally. Cysts lacking ArHsp21

Fig. 11. The elimination of ArHsp21 does has a minor effect on cyst tolerance to desiccation and freezing. Diapause of *Artemia* cysts either lacking (-ArHsp21) or containing (+ArHsp21) was terminated by desiccation and freezing. The cysts were then incubated in sea water at room temperature and hatched nauplii were counted and removed. The results are given as the percentage of cysts that hatched with hatching an indicator of diapause termination and cyst viability. Error bars indicate standard error.



were equally resistant to heat stress (Fig. 12). Overall, knocking down ArHsp21 had no detectable effect on *Artemia* adult females and cysts when analyzed by the procedures employed herein.

Fig. 12. ArHsp21 had no effect on the heat tolerance of *Artemia* cysts. Diapause was terminated in broods of cysts that did not contain ArHsp21 and then the broods were divided in half. Half of a brood was incubated at 41°C for 30 min and the other half was not heat stressed. Nauplii were then hatched at room temperature. Error bars show standard error. The experiment was done in triplicate with different broods of cysts.



3.4 dsRNA for ArHsp22 is lethal to adult Artemia

3.4.1 Generation of ArHsp22 dsRNA and injection of Artemia females

When resolved in agarose gels ArHsp22 cDNA and dsRNA yielded bands of the expected size, with the dsRNA slightly larger than the cDNA (Fig. 13). dsRNA for ArHsp22 and GFP and control solution were injected separately into the egg sacs of unfertilized adult *A. franciscana* females and those animals retaining dye and resuming normal behavior 3 h after the injection were used in subsequent experiments.

3.4.2 Injection of ArHsp22 dsRNA kills adult Artemia

The initial recovery of *Artemia* females injected with dsRNA specific to ArHsp22 was similar to the recovery of animals injected with control solution or dsRNA specific to other proteins including sHSPs, artemin, p8 and GFP. Normal swimming behavior, filtering, as indicated by moving appendages and extension of the tail occurred at the same time and frequency as for females injected with dsRNA for p26 and ArHsp21. However, only 50% of females survived one day after receiving dsRNA specific to ArHsp22 whereas typically 90% of females receiving control solution or dsRNA for other proteins survived injection for one day. After the first day post-injection adult females generally died within the next 2 days (Fig. 14). The lateral appendages of *Artemia* that are near death as a consequence of injection with dsRNA for ArHsp22 assume a feathery

Fig. 13. Generation of dsRNA specific to ArHsp22. Lane 1, Generuler 1 kb DNA size markers; 2, cDNA used to generate dsRNA; 3, dsRNA specific to ArHsp22 produced with the MEGAscript RNAi kit. Electrophoresis was in 1.2% agarose and RNA was visualized with Gel star. The size of markers is given in bp on the left side of the gel.



Fig. 14. Injection with dsRNA specific to ArHsp22 kills *Artemia* adults. Females were injected with control solution (blue) and dsRNA specific to ArHsp22 (red). The experiment was repeated with males which received dsRNA specific to ArHsp22 (purple) and control solution (green). The experiment was performed in duplicate with approximately 10 animals in each group. Error bars represent standard error.



appearance and death ensues shortly after this morphological change (Fig. 15). The egg sacs of *Artemia* females tended to empty near to or soon after death and this occurred when females were injected with ArHsp22 dsRNA. Male *Artemia* were killed by injection with ArHsp22 dsRNA and they tended to die more rapidly than females (Fig .14). Due to the death of females it was not possible to determine if ArHsp22 was knocked down in cysts by injection of ArHsp22 dsRNA.

Fig. 15. Appendage morphology changed when adult *A. franciscana* were near death. The animals were viewed with an Olympus microscope (SZ61) and an infinity 1 lumenera camera was used to take the light micrograph. A, appendages, G, gut, H, head, E, egg sac containing cysts, O developing oocytes. Pictured on the right is a healthy animal and on the left a female near death.



3.5 The knockdown of artemin had adverse effects on Artemia embryos

3.5.1 Generation of artemin dsRNA and injection of Artemia females

When resolved in agarose gels artemin cDNA and dsRNA yielded bands of the expected size, with the dsRNA slightly larger than the cDNA (Fig. 16A). dsRNAs representing artemin and GFP and control solution were injected separately into the egg sacs of unfertilized adult *A. franciscana* females and those animals retaining dye and reassuming normal behavior 3 h after the injection were used in subsequent experiments.

3.5.2 Knockdown of artemin in Artemia embryos

As determined by RT-PCR the injection of *Artemia* females with dsRNA completely knocked down artemin mRNA (Fig. 16B). Knock down of artemin protein by dsRNA was almost complete but some of the protein remained detectable on western blots (Fig. 16C). There was no genomic DNA contamination in the mRNA prepared from cysts employed in these experiments. The knock down was specific because injection of females with control solution and dsRNA for GFP did not affect artemin RNA and protein (not shown).

3.5.3 The time for complete release of a brood of cysts from females lacking artemin was extended. *Artemia* females injected with dsRNA specific to artemin

Fig. 16. Knockdown of artemin by dsRNA. Panel A, dsRNA specific to ArHsp22 was produced with the MEGAscript RNAi kit, resolved by electrophoresis in 1.2% agarose gels and visualized with Gel star. Lane 1, Generuler 1 kb DNA size markers, Lane 2, cDNA used to generate dsRNA; 3, dsRNA generated specific to ArHsp21. Marker size is given in bp on the left side of the gel in panel A. Panel B, Knockdown of artemin mRNA by injection of Artemia females with artemin dsRNA. Amplification was performed by RT-PCR using RNA from cysts released by females injected with either artemin dsRNA (1, 3) or control solution (2, 4). Lanes 1 and 2, RNA samples were incubated with reverse transcriptase; 3 and 4, RNA samples were not incubated with reverse transcriptase. Electrophoresis was in 1.2% agarose and gels were stained with Sybersafe[®]. Panel C, knockdown of artemin protein by injecting Artemia females with artemin dsRNA. Protein extracts from 35 cysts produced by females injected with either dsRNA for artemin or GFP (1) or control solution (2) were resolved in 12.5% SDS polyacrylamide gels and blotted to nitrocellulose. The blots in panel art and GFP were reacted with antibody specific to artemin followed by HRP-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG antibody. Proteins were visualized by chemiluminescence.



behaved normally and were fertilized when introduced to males. Broods of cysts are normally completely released within 2 hours but when artemin was knocked down females retained cysts in the egg sacs for up to two days after the initiation of release (Fig. 17). However, unlike the situation with p26, the rate of development (time to release) was not significantly different between embryos that either contained or lacked artemin (P value 0.94) (not shown). That is, the release of cysts was initiated at day 5 after fertilization. The release extension is most pronounced in the first brood release after injection and diminishes with each successive brood.

3.5.4 Cysts lacking artemin have reduced stress tolerance

After diapause termination by desiccation and freezing, 73% and 43% respectively of cysts containing and lacking artemin hatched (Fig. 18). The resulting nauplii grew to sexual maturity and reproduced normally.

3.5.5 Cysts lacking artemin do not spontaneously break diapause

When cysts released from females injected with dsRNA specific to artemin were incubated 90 days in seawater in 15 ml conical centrifuge tubes at room Fig. 17. Release from females is slowed for cysts lacking artemin. Brood release was tracked for several releases after injection with dsRNA specific to artemin. The first appearance of cysts was noted as was the day that the brood sac was empty. The data from 5 females were pooled and the average release time by brood number graphed. Error bars indicate standard error.



Fig. 18. The elimination of artemin significantly reduced the stress tolerance of *Artemia* cysts. Diapause of *Artemia* cysts either lacking (-artemin) or containing (+artemin). was terminated by desiccation and freezing. The cysts were then incubated in sea water at room temperature and hatched nauplii were counted and removed. The results are given as the percentage of cysts that hatched with hatching an indicator of diapause termination and cyst viability. Error bars indicate standard error.



temperature, then flushed into hexagonal weigh boats, the cysts lacking artemin did not hatch spontaneously as occurred for cysts lacking p26 (not shown).

3.6 Knock down of the transcription cofactor p8

3.6.1 Pooled p8 siRNAs knocked down p8 mRNA

As determined by RT-PCR the injection of *Artemia* females with pooled siRNAs completely knocked down p8 mRNA (Fig. 19A). RNA preparations from cysts that received control solution (1) or pooled siRNAs for p8 (2) were subjected to RT-PCR. In lane 3 reverse transcriptase was omitted from the amplification reaction showing no genomic RNA contamination. siRNAs specific to p8 are effective in knocking down p8 mRNA.

3.6.2 p8 does not regulate the synthesis of diapause-specific sHSPs

Cysts from females receiving pooled siRNAs or control solution were homogenized, resolved in a 12.5% SDS polyacrylamide gels and transferred to nitrocellulose. Immunoprobing of membranes with antibodies demonstrated that knocking down p8 had no effect on the amount of p26, ArHsp21, ArHsp22, or artemin in *Artemia* cysts (Fig. 19B). Fig. 19. Molecular chaperones are unaffected by knock down of p8 in cysts. Panel A. Amplification of p8 mRNA was by RT-PCR using RNA from cysts released by females injected with either control solution (2) or p8 siRNA (3) and Lane 1, Generuler 1 kb DNA size markers. Electrophoresis was in 1.2% agarose and gels were stained with Sybersafe®. Panel B, protein extracts from 91 cysts produced by females injected with either pooled siRNAs specific to p8 (1) or control solution (2) were resolved in 12.5% SDS polyacrylamide gels and blotted to nitrocellulose. The blots were reacted with antibody specific to p8 (p8), p26 (26), ArHsp21 (21), ArHsp22 (22) and artemin (A) followed by HRP-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG antibody. Proteins were visualized by chemiluminescence.



3.6.3 Cysts lacking p8 exhibit reduced stress tolerance

After diapause termination by desiccation and freezing, 76% and 44% respectively of cysts containing and lacking p8 hatched (Fig. 20). The resulting nauplii grew to sexual maturity and reproduced normally.

3.6.4 Cysts lacking p8 are capable of spontaneous diapause termination at the time of release

Cysts lacking p8 occasionally hatched within 36 h of release from females. Hatching occurred in 8% of broods released and approximately 50% of cysts in those broods hatched (Fig. 21). The resulting nauplii did not show any morphological abnormalities, grew to sexual maturity and reproduced normally.

3.6.5 Cysts lacking p8 did not spontaneously break diapause after incubation in seawater for 90 days

Cysts released from females injected with pooled siRNAs specific to p8 were incubated in seawater in 15 ml conical centrifuge tubes for at least 90 days at room temperature. When flushed into hexagonal weigh boats the cysts lacking p8 did not hatch spontaneously as occurred for cysts lacking p26 (not shown).

Fig. 20. The elimination of p8 significantly reduced the stress tolerance of *Artemia* cysts. Diapause of *Artemia* cysts either lacking (-p8) or containing (+p8) p8 was terminated by desiccation and freezing. The cysts were then incubated in sea water at room temperature and hatched nauplii were counted and removed. The results are given as the percentage of cysts that hatched with hatching an indicator of diapause termination and cyst viability. Error bars indicate standard error.



Fig. 21. Cysts lacking p8 occasionally hatch upon release from females. Panel A, after incubation at room temperature for thirty six hours after release of cysts from the female that lack p8, nauplii were visible (red arrows) as were unhatched cysts (blue arrows). Fecal matter is green in color. Panel B. Cysts that lack p8 were imaged as described below were imaged at a higher magnification. Shown is an unhatched cyst (FS), a shell from a hatched nauplius (ES) and an emerged nauplius (N) are visible. Light micrographs were obtained with an Olympus SZ61 microscope and infinity 1 lumenera camera.



Chapter 4: Discussion

4.1 RNAi permits the study of *Artemia* proteins in vivo

4.1.1 Injection of adult females with dsRNA and siRNA knocked down targeted proteins in *Artemia* embryos

RNAi was used to elucidate protein function in *Artemia* embryos and cysts by examining morphological, developmental and molecular changes that occurred upon elimination of specific proteins. Protein function is often studied *in vitro* (Wu and MacRae, 2010) in transfected mammalian cells. While elucidating protein function in transfected cells has produced important functional information it is generally more informative to determine a protein's function *in vivo*. A protein in transfected cells may show a function different from that initially determined by other procedures or a function may be overlooked. For example this study confirmed roles for two proteins, p26 and artemin in stress resistance as shown in *in vitro* studies and also revealed developmental roles for these proteins.

RNAi has been employed in *Artemia* to show caudal gene function in axis elongation and segmentation (Copf et al., 2004) and the repression of Hox genes (Copf et al., 2006). A role for p90 ribosomal S6 kinase in the termination of cell cycle arrest as post-diapause *Artemia* embryos resume development was indicated by the use of RNAi (Dai et al, 2008), as is the requirement for shell gland-specifically expressed genes SGEG1 (previously SGEG) and SGEG2 as integral components of stress resistance attributed to the cyst shell (Liu et al., 2009; Dai et al., 2011). To the best of my knowledge this is the first time that the

injection of females with dsRNA and siRNA has been demonstrated to knock down proteins in embryos of *Artemia*.

The techniques employed in the study knock down mRNAs and the corresponding proteins in embryos in a very specific manner which allows the study of protein function in *Artemia* embryos undergoing diapause. Once developed, the technique proved relatively easy to employ and sufficient amounts of experimental material were obtained for analyses. The RNAi effect in *Artemia* is long lasting knocking down p26 in embryos for at least four broods from the same female, which facilitates collection of experimental materials. However, the RNAi effect does not carry over into subsequent generations.

Injection of the females is monitored by the addition of phenol red to the inoculum which allows visualization of entry and retention of injected material. The appearance of the female after injection indicates the quality of the injection. A successfully injected animal is red, swims with a straight tail and no phenol red appears in the culture medium for at least two h. Females not injected successfully may swim abnormally and/or they exhibit bent tails two hours post-injection. Alternatively the injection solution may not be retained and animals appear normally colored after injection and the sea water in which they are swimming becomes reddish. The success of injection depends largely on the quality of the needle which requires breakage at an angle of 45° and in such a way that the end is very thin. Additionally, the bore of the opening must be large enough to draw in sufficient solution when filling the needle.

dsRNA specific to GFP as well as sham injections were used as controls to examine the effects of dsRNA introduction and injection (Dai et al., 2011). Generally 80% of females survive the injection procedure for dsRNAs. It was not possible to generate dsRNA for p8 so custom designed siRNAs were used. This method was much less labour intensive but was considerably more expensive than generation of dsRNA. p8 was knocked down using siRNAs showing that siRNAs are effective in *Artemia*. Clearly, using siRNAs is a practical approach for knocking down proteins for which dsRNAs cannot be produced. Generating dsRNA requires gene specific primers with T7 promoters attached which requires very strong primer interaction with cDNA templates. When the gene sequence is short or lacks sites for primer binding it may be prudent to use siRNA instead. Generating dsRNA takes two days plus lag time on primer design while custom designed siRNA takes about two weeks.

4.2 p26 has multiple functions in *Artemia* embryos

4.2.1 Elimination of p26 increases the time between fertilization and release of *Artemia* embryos

The increase in time to release of cysts from females injected with p26 dsRNA versus control solution and dsRNA for GFP revealed that the loss of p26 slowed the development of diapause-destined embryos or, in other words, p26 is required to attain the maximum rate of development of diapause-destined embryos. How this occurs has yet to be determined. Moreover, these data imply

that p26 does not arrest DNA replication and the cell cycle during diapause, as suggested for sHSPs in other organisms where their accumulation correlates with reduced growth (Yocum et al., 1998; Clegg et al. 1999; Li et al., 2007). That another sHSP such as ArHsp21 or ArHsp22 (Qiu and MacRae, 2008a, b) impedes DNA replication and/or cell division in diapause-destined *Artemia* embryos is possible.

4.2.2 Cysts lacking p26 terminate diapause spontaneously

The absence of p26 allows for spontaneous diapause termination in cysts after long term incubation in sea water at room temperature. The molecular mechanism explaining this result may originate in the ability of p26, as a molecular chaperone, to sequester signaling proteins critical to diapause termination or to counter the effects of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Robbins et al., 2010; MacRae, 2010). ROS often play a role in signaling and may be involved in the signaling pathways of diapause in some species (Jovanović-Galović et al., 2004). If p26 is not present these signaling molecules may not be sequestered and they are available to provide the cue necessary to terminate diapause.

The bottom layers of conical tubes in which the cysts were stored likely became anoxic over three months and when the cysts were transferred to hatch medium oxygen became available and the primed cysts developed. It is possible that cysts lacking p26 are unable to maintain diapause which would result in termination. When p26, an abundant molecular chaperone in diapause cysts is absent proteins normally bound to p26 would be free in the cells and thus functional. It is possible that another molecular chaperone sequesters proteins normally held by p26 but that does not appear to be the case in *Artemia* cysts as knocking down other chaperones did not cause spontaneous diapause termination. The absence of p26 potentially leads to disruption of diapause maintenance which allows cysts to hatch spontaneously.

Termination is often not possible for a period of time in organisms that exhibit diapause (Roach and Adkisson, 1971: Tauber and Tauber, 1976). Data suggest that *A. franciscana* cannot hatch for a duration after entering diapause (Robbins, unpublished data). Diapause termination by H_2O_2 increases after the cysts are released from females and peaks at three months post release (Robbins, unpublished data). Cysts hatch spontaneously upon transfer to weigh boats after three months and not at the time of release when stored under the same conditions. The spontaneous hatching seen when p26 is knocked down indicates that cyst hatching may not be possible for a period of time after entering diapause and that p26 has a role in preventing diapause termination.

Damage by ROS during diapause is a common issue in many species. The mitochondria in Killifish *Austrofundulus limnaeus* are not primed to make ATP but rather to minimize the proton motive force, likely to avoid damage by ROS (Duerr and Podrabsky, 2010). The caterpillar *Chlosyne lacinia* controls ROS by maintaining 6-phosphate dehydrogenase activity throughout diapause (Moreira et al., 2012). The antioxidants catalase and sod-2 aid in survival during
diapause of the mosquito *Culex pipiens* (Sim and Denlinger, 2011). The three examples discussed are diverse and indicate that ROS are a widespread challenge across species during diapause. ROS may also have a role in diapause termination in *A. franciscana* (Robbins et al., 2010).

The ability to interrupt diapause has practical implications. Many pest species use the enhanced stress resistance diapause confers to escape harsh conditions which would otherwise be fatal during normal growth and development. Diapause termination must coincide with environmental conditions favorable for growth and development if the emerging organism is to survive. These observations suggest that it is possible to use RNAi to cause early emergence from diapause in pest species subjecting them to potentially fatal conditions as a means of management. While at an early stage it is possible that directing RNAi targeting sHSPs may prove effective in pest management. T h i s study introduced dsRNA by microinjection which would not be feasible in pest management. Other studies have introduced dsRNA to organisms in more practical ways. dsRNA can be introduced by feeding in the Apple moth, Epiphyas postvittana (Turner et al., 2006) and so could possibly be administered to pest insects orally in feed containing dsRNA. dsRNA can also be administered by soaking in *C. elegans* (Maeda et al., 2001). In aquatic environments dsRNA could be introduced by addition directly to the water. More work remains to be done on employing dsRNA, possibly directed at small heat shock proteins, in the field but this study suggests that it may be an effective strategy for pest management.

4.2.3 p26 contributes to stress resistance

As evidence that p26 has a role in stress resistance only 6% of cysts lacking p26 hatch after diapause breakage by desiccation and freezing, both very stressful conditions, compared with 58% of cysts from females receiving control solution and therefore containing p26. Cysts lacking p26 and which hatched spontaneously were more sensitive to heat shock than cysts containing p26 demonstrating that p26 has a role in stress resistance. p26 confers stress tolerance on bacteria (Liang MacRae, 1999) and mammalian cells (Wu and MacRae, 2010), but this is the first time p26 dependent stress tolerance has been demonstrated *in vivo*.

These findings indicate that during diapause, p26 may protect proteins from irreversible denaturation. sHSPs are promiscuous with one sHSP oligomer typically binding many different proteins and preventing their irreversible denaturation, thus accounting for their protective effects during stress (Picard, 2002). sHSPs interact with microfilaments, intermediate filaments (Lavoie et al., 1993) and microtubules suggesting that p26 may protect the structural proteins of these filaments and enhance stress resistance (Liang and MacRae, 1997). sHSPs usually experience a temperature dependent increase in abundance and surface hydrophobicity, either by disassembly or structural rearrangement of oligomers (Bagnéris et al., 2009) which is thought to promote interactions with partially denatured proteins (Van Montfort et al., 2001). The N-terminal and α - crystallin domains of sHSP monomers are primarily responsible for binding of denaturing proteins (Lee et al., 1997; Stromer et al., 2004; Ghosh et al., 2005, 2006). It is likely that p26 protects proteins during diapause in the manner just described. The stresses associated with diapause necessitate the protection of many different proteins. Thus, association with sHSPs, like p26, provides a way to store proteins and prevent irreversible damage of proteins, some of which are necessary for resuming growth once post-diapause development resumes, while interaction with cytoskeletal elements may preserve cell structure and shape. In addition, p26 inhibits apoptosis (Villeneuve et al., 2006;) and may protect cells by preventing death.

It has long been hypothesized that p26 contributes to stress tolerance during diapause. Cysts are most stress resistant during the maintenance phase of diapause and it was thought that p26 was crucial in providing stress resistance during this phase. While confirming the role in stress tolerance, this study revealed novel roles for p26 in development of embryos and possibly in maintaining or preventing the termination of diapause. This finding illustrates the value of *in vivo* procedures for studying protein function revealing as it did that p26 has multiple roles in diapausing cysts as is possible for sHSPs up regulated during diapause in other species. For example, a 23 kD sHSP is up regulated during the diapause of *S. crassipalpis* (Li et al., 2007; Yocum et al., 1998) and may have multiple roles during diapause. The corn steam borer *S. nonagrioides* differentially regulates a 20.8 kD sHSPs during diapause, down regulating it during deep diapause but up regulating it upon termination (Gkouvitsas et al.,

2008). sHSPs differentially regulated during diapause might share developmental roles or fulfill diverse roles in different species.

4.3 ArHsp21 is non-essential during Artemia diapause

4.3.1 Embryos lacking ArHsp21 hatch normally after desiccation and freezing

ArHsp21 is one of the three known sHSPs up regulated during the development of diapause-destined *Artemia* embryos, and it is present in lower amounts than p26 (manuscript in preparation). The message is detectable at two days post fertilization in embryos entering diapause and those undergoing direct development, though to a much lesser extent in the latter (Qiu and MacRae, 2008a). ArHsp21 protein is first detectable at four days post fertilization and only in diapause-destined embryos. Like p26, ArHsp21 is not heat inducible in larval and adult *Artemia* (Qiu and MacRae, 2008a).

The numbers of cysts either containing or lacking ArHsp21 that hatched when diapause was broken by desiccation and freezing were statistically different but only varied by 7% suggesting that ArHsp21 contributes minimally, at best, to stress tolerance during diapause. This conclusion is further supported by the statistically similar response of cysts containing ArHsp21 and those that did not to thermal stress. No other effects on cysts and females were noted when ArHsp21 was knocked down suggesting that the protein plays only a minor role in stress tolerance, if any, in diapause and/or that its function(s) are assumed by another sHSP when it is eliminated. Many organisms up regulate multiple HSPs during diapause and it has been theorized that these proteins confer stress resistance during diapause (Yocum et al., 1998, MacRae, 2010). The results with ArHsp21 suggest that this is not always the case as ArHsp21 aids in stress resistance minimally. sHSPs and molecular chaperones in other species up regulated during diapause may have principal roles other than stress resistance as hypothesized, such as the developmental role revealed for p26.

4.4 ArHsp22 may protect Artemia adults from stress.

4.4.1 Injection with dsRNA specific to ArHsp22 kills adult Artemia

ArHsp22 is expressed in diapause-destined embryos with the mRNA first detectable at three days post fertilization and the protein at four days post fertilization. Neither the message nor the protein is detectable in embryos undergoing direct development into nauplii (Qiu and MacRae, 2008a). Furthermore, ArHsp22 is the only known heat inducible sHSP in *Artemia* first appearing two hours after heat shock of adult*s*. These data indicate that ArHsp22 functions in both embryos and adults of *Artemia*.

Unlike other dsRNAs employed herein, ArHsp22 dsRNA is lethal to male and female adult *Artemia*. It is possible that either microinjection and/or handling constitute stresses that induce ArHsp22 synthesis. Consequently, if ArHsp22 dsRNA is injected into adults ArHsp22 mRNA produced in response to stress is destroyed and ArHsp22 is not produced, thus lowering stress tolerance. Though the handling stress is not readily quantifiable adults are partially dried and placed on a cold agar plate for approximately 5 min during injection, perhaps sufficient to elicit a stress response. The injection itself may be sufficiently stressful to cause a classical heat shock response. This is to my knowledge the first work to suggest that injection leads to a stress response and that it is a factor to be considered when injecting animals with dsRNAs specific to HSPs.

That injection constitutes a stress was examined by determining the amount of ArHsp22 by immunoprobing of western blots in cell free extracts of adult males four hours after injection. This result must be further investigated especially as it is known that stressors other than heat illicit a classical heat shock response. These stresses include cold in *Drosophilla* (Colinet et al., 2010), desiccation in snails (Mizrahi et al., 2010) and handling in sharks (Heberer et al., 2010). When RNAi was used in *Drosophilla* to knock down either Hsp22 or Hsp23 flies were significantly less likely to survive being held at 0°C for 12 hours. This suggests that both of these stress inducible proteins function in stress resistance to harsh environmental conditions (Colinet et al., 2010).

In other species a heat shock response is elicited from seemingly everyday occurrences when stress is seemingly absent. For example in the mosquito *Aedes aegypti* simply ingesting hot blood increases production of Hsp70. When RNAi is used to target Hsp70 and the mosquito is fed hot blood digestion of the meal is impaired and subsequent egg production is lowered (Benoit et al., 2011). Up regulation of HSPs like ArHsp22 in *A. franciscana* may not be a part of a stress response but rather part of a standard organismal function.

4.5 Artemin knockdown disrupts the normal behavior of *Artemia* embryos and cysts

4.5.1 Artemin contributes to stress tolerance in Artemia

Artemin is an abundant soluble protein in the cells of diapause destined embryos and is not present in embryos that undergo direct development (Chen et al., 2003), indicating a role in diapause. After diapause breakage by desiccation and freezing cysts lacking artemin hatched in lower amounts than those containing artemin, suggesting that this protein has a role in stress resistance during diapause. As cyst survival is better than when p26 is eliminated the results indicate *Artemia* has a lesser role in stress resistance than does p26 even though they function equally in *in vitro* assays (Chen et al., 2007; Sun et al., 2005). In concert with the analysis of ArHsp21, the data on p26 and artemin indicate the value of *in vivo* experiments to determine the relative importance of molecular chaperones in stress tolerance. Moreover, these data suggest that p26, ArHsp21 and artemin work in concert to protect cells from stress, possibly by binding partially denatured proteins. Artemin may back up p26 or chaperone a different set of proteins that are less critical for surviving stress.

Artemin may protect cells against oxidative damage (Chen et al., 2003) thereby preventing cell death during diapause. Or, stated in another way, decreased hatching in cysts that do not contain artemin may result because cells are irrevocably damaged by reactive oxygen species during diapause. Hatching in cysts that do not contain artemin is reduced by approximately half compared to those containing the protein, whereas knock down of p26 almost eliminates hatching after stress exposure. The differences in hatching between cysts that did not contain artemin and those that did not contain p26 after freezing and desiccation suggests that hatching is affected in each case in a different way. It is also possible that cysts that do not contain artemin are damaged over time by the buildup of ROS and unable to hatch.

4.5.2 Artemin lengthens the time for cyst release from females

A brood of cysts is normally completely released from the female in a matter of hours, however when artemin is eliminated release extends over days, with cysts being released each day. As indicated by the error bars in Fig. 16 there is a significant difference and clear downward trend in release time between successive broods. The knockdown of artemin was not as complete as for the other proteins with some protein still detectable on western blots. The shortening of release time over successive broods likely indicates that the RNAi effect is wearing off. It is possible that the cysts are maturing at different rates and are released when they are matured. Typically cysts mature in the female over five days with the shell appearing on the third or fourth day (Liang and MacRae, 1999). Developing cysts not containing artemin look no different than

those with artemin and shells are deposited on the expected day. The staggered release data indicate that the loss of artemin delays embryo development in a non-uniform way with cysts possibly released as they mature.

While the release time is extended, the initiation of embryo release is not delayed as seen with p26. The beginning of cyst release is typically on the fifth day which is normal for cysts and p-values do not show a significant delay as is the case with cysts lacking p26. Previous studies of Artemia have not suggested developmental roles for molecular chaperones in diapause nor does this appear to be common for other species, although it has been little investigated. Artemin binds non-polyadenlated RNA (Warner et al., 2004) and it is possible that RNA usually bound to artemin is free in the cytosol when artemin is absent. If artemin is not present this RNA may interfere with translation decreasing the amounts and types of proteins usually present during diapause. When artemin is absent it is possible that regulatory RNAs are not sequestered and are destroyed during These regulatory RNAs may have a role in either interrupting diapause. metabolism or in co-ordinating the return to normal growth and development. The absence of artemin may cause differential delay of cyst maturation, depending on which proteins are missing from embryos, but the molecular mechanism by which artemin extends release time has yet to be elucidated.

4.6 The role of the transcription cofactor p8 in Artemia development

4.6.1 p8 does not regulate the expression of sHSPs or artemin

p8 is a stress induced transcription co-factor (Encinar et al., 2001) that shows peak expression in diapause-destined Artemia embryos two days after fertilization (Qiu and MacRae, 2007) while the accumulation of up regulated diapause-specific molecular chaperones peaks four days after fertilization (Liang and MacRae, 1999; Qiu and MacRae, 2008 a, b; Qiu et al., 2006). Based on the early expression of p8 it was hypothesized that this transcription cofactor controls the diapause cascade of molecular chaperone expression seen later in diapause initiation. When p8 is knocked down immunoprobing of western blots reveals that p26, ArHsp21, ArHsp22 and artemin are synthesized equally when compared to cysts that contain p8. While p8 does not regulate the molecular chaperones tested in this study it may activate or repress the expression of other proteins. p8 potentially down regulates proteins that function in growth and development or up regulates proteins that aid in cell cycle arrest (Carracedo et al., 2006). When p8 is knocked down in mammalian cells there is an increase in basal autophagy markers and a decrease in cell viability (Kong et al., 2010). It is possible that p8 participates in a pathway that prevents destructive autophagy during diapause in A. franciscana. preventing cell death.

4.6.2 p8 may differentially regulate proteins during diapause

The elimination of p8 from *Artemia* cysts reduces hatching by about 50% when diapause is terminated by desiccation and freezing. p8 thus has a role in stress tolerance and since it is a transcription co-factor it may affect the

expression of one or more other proteins yet to be identified. For example, p8 may aid or prevent the transcription of genes during diapause which leads to a decrease in hatching as indicated by decreased stress tolerance. If p8 turns on genes that lead to cell cycle arrest, then when it is absent these genes are not activated and the cell cycle does not shut down, the cells remain active and may be damaged by the desiccation and freezing required for diapause termination. If cell cycle arrest is not occurring this explains why cysts hatch spontaneously after release from females, which happens occasionally. Alternatively p8 may be inhibiting the expression of genes that function in growth and development or metabolism. If these genes are not turned off cells are not able to attain the shutdown necessary for diapause which could lead to decreased hatching. In future studies it will be interesting to use either selective subtractive hybridization or proteomics to examine the differences in gene expression/protein synthesis of cysts that do and do not contain p8.

Broods of cysts that do not contain p8 occasionally hatch 24 – 36 h after release from the female. Commercially available cysts typically hatch in 24 - 36 hours after being hydrated. Hatching upon release from females shows that at least some cysts lacking p8 are capable of spontaneous diapause termination or they never enter diapause. The spontaneous termination seen when p8 is knocked down is different from that seen when p26 is eliminated because it occurs immediately upon release from the female possibly indicating that the initiation or maintenance phase is interrupted. In contrast, cysts that lack p26 do not hatch when released from the female but rather after being incubated in sea

water for three months. Further indicating that p8 does not have a role similar to p26 in diapause termination is that cysts not hatching upon release from the female do not hatch after incubation in sea water for three months. This indicates that the molecular mechanism that leads to spontaneous hatching when p8 is knocked down is different from that for p26 knockdown.

p8 is quickly up regulated in response to stress in the amphioxus (*Branchiostoma belcheri tsingtaunese*) when in a starved state (Liu et al., 2009). p8 is also strongly up regulated in the human pancreas after injury and notably during the acute phase of pancreatitis (Mallo et al., 1997). The up regulation of p8 in response to starvation and injury implies a role in stress resistance for the protein in other species beyond *A. franciscana*.

4.7 Conclusions

RNAi can be used in *Artemia* to study protein function *in vivo* in embryos. For example when p26 is knocked down embryos are less stress resistant and the time between fertilization and release is significantly extended showing a role for this sHSP in development. Moreover, cysts that do not contain p26 terminate diapause spontaneously suggesting another developmental role for p26.

Females injected with dsRNA specific to ArHsp21, as well as cysts released by these females were unaffected by knockdown of this chaperone. Cysts lacking ArHsp21 and experiencing the stresses of freezing and desiccation, hatched at only a slightly reduced rate but were equally heat

resistant. When dsRNA specific to ArHsp22 was injected into females death ensued, the same fate experienced by males. This unusual result may involve disruption of the ArHsp22 stress response in adults, a proposal currently under study.

Injection of dsRNA specific to artemin resulted in staggered release of embryos within a brood, stretching the exit of a single brood over several days. Females receiving control solution released all embryos within a brood in a matter of hours. Artemin also contributes to stress tolerance but less so than p26.

p8 is a stress-related transcription cofactor with expression highest at about two days post-fertilization, just as other diapause up-regulated proteins start to appear. siRNAs for p8 were injected into adult *Artemia* females and the protein was knocked down in embryos, but there was no effect on the accumulation of the four molecular chaperones examined in this study during embryogenesis. This suggests that p8 aids in stress resistance in a way other than inducing the synthesis of molecular chaperones.

This work demonstrates that heat shock proteins up regulated during diapause have varying roles in stress tolerance, even though they possess similar chaperone activity in *in vitro* assays. Novel developmental effects were discovered for two molecular chaperones, p26 and artemin, but not for ArHsp21 or ArHsp22 during diapause. For example, cysts not containing p26 hatch spontaneously suggesting that the protein has a crucial role in diapause maintenance and/or termination. Overall this work makes fundamental

contributions concerning the role of molecular chaperones in diapause. On a more applied basis the work contributes to our understanding of the role molecular chaperones play during diapause in *A. franciscana*, an important feed source in aquaculture. The research adds to the fields of medicine, forestry and agriculture, as many pest and disease vectors, such as mosquitoes and ticks, exhibit diapause. Interrupting diapause by either making it permanent or by disruption, as done in this work, could result in eliminating pesticide use to control pest species and lowering transmission rates of insect-transmitted disease.

Figure A.1. Cysts vary little in diameter. The diameters of 1426 cysts hydrated for 3 h were measured with a stereomicroscope.



Figure A.2. Experimental time line for confirming knockdown in *A. franciscana.* After microinjection of dsRNA specific to a particular protein females were mated and once cysts were released they were incubated in sea water for 10 days. After two weeks of desiccation at room temperature cysts were then transferred to the freezer for an additional 11 to 12 weeks before knockdown was confirmed by western blotting and RT-PCR.



Table A.1. Genes up regulated during diapause. Several genes up regulated during diapause were identified by selective subtractive hybridization (Qiu and MacRae, 2007). Four of those identified and another species specific molecular chaperone were targeted for knockdown using RNAi.

Category	Gene Name	Function
Cellular processes	p26	sHSP, Molecular Chaperone
Cellular processes	p26-like (hsp22)	sHSP, Molecular Chaperone
Cellular processes	hsp16-like (hsp21)	sHSP, Molecular Chaperone
Environmental information processing	P 8	Transcription co-factor

Appendix 2: Solutions and Recipes

Solutions for SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis

Pipes Buffer (1I)	100 mM Pipes (30.24 g) 1 mM MgCl2 (0.31 g) 1 mM EGTA (0.38 g) pH 6.5
1B	18.3 g Tris Ph 8.8 2.5 ml 20% SDS stock solution Add ddH2O to 100 ml
1C	0.1 ml TEMED Add ddH2O to 50 ml
1D	50 mg Ammonium persulfate Add ddH2O to 10 ml
2B	6 g Tris pH 6.8 2.5 ml 20% SDS stock solution Add ddH2O to 100 ml
2C	0.2 ml TEMED Add ddH2O to 10 ml
SDS Stock Solution	20 g SDS 100 ml ddH2O
10% Running gels	1A (Accrylimide) 4.0 ml, 1B 4.0 ml, 1C 2.0 ml, ddH2O 4.0 ml and 1D 2.0 ml
12.5% Running gels	1A (Accrylimide) 5.0 ml, 1B 4.0 ml, 1C 2.0 ml, ddH2O 3.0 ml and 1D 2.0 ml
Stacking gels	1A (Accrylimide) 1.0 ml, 2B 2.5 ml, 2C 1.25 ml, ddH2O 4.0 ml and 1D 1.25ml

4X Treatment buffer (20 ml)	0.6 g Tris 1.6 g SDS 8.0 ml Glycerol 4.0 ml 2-mercaptoethanol 0.2% Bromophenol blue pH 6.8
Running buffer (4I)	12.0 g Tris 57.6 g Glycine 8.0 ml 20% SDS stock solution
Coomassie Blue staining solution (2l)	10 g Coomassie brilliant blue 140 ml Acetic acid 800 ml Methanol Stir one hour and filter through miracloth
Destaining solution (2I)	400 ml Methanol 140 ml Acetic acid 100 ml Glycerol
Solutions for western blott	ing
Blot electrode buffer (4I)	12.0 g Tris 56.7 g Glycine 800 ml Methanol
TBS buffer (1I)	1.12 g Tris 8.18 g NaCl pH 7.4
TBS-Tween buffer (1I)	Add 1.0 ml of Tween 20 to 1I of TBS buffer
HST buffer (1I)	1.21 g Tris 58.40 g NaCl pH 7.4 5.0 ml Tween 20
2% Ponceau S solution	2.0 g Ponceau S 30.0 g Trichloroacetic acid Add ddH2O to 100 ml Dilute 1:9 in ddH2O for staining blots
ECL Stripping buffer	100 mM 2-mercaptoethanol 2% SDS 62.5 mM Tris-HCI pH 6.7

Solutions for agarose gel electrophoresis

6X DNA loading buffer	0.25% Bromophenol blue 0.25% Xylwne cynol 15% Ficoll (type 400)
50X TBE	242 g Tris 57.1 ml Acetic acid 100 ml 0.5 M EDTA (pH 8.0) Add ddH2O to 1I
Solutions for RNAi	
Injection solution	100 ul dsRNA in elution solution 100 ul 0.5% phenol red in Dulbecco's phosphate buffered saline
Control Solution	100 ul elution solution 100 ul 0.5% phenol red in Dulbecco's phosphate buffered saline
Other solutions	
Solution A	10 mg Leupeptin 10 mg Soybean trypsin inhibitor Dissolved in 10 ml Pipes buffer
Solution B	10 mg Pepstatin 20 mg PMSF Dissolved in 10 ml 95% ethanol

References

Adhikari, B.N., D.H. Wall and B.J. Adams (2009) Desiccation survival in an Antarctic nematode: molecular analysis using expressed sequenced tags. BMC Genomics. 10:69.

Åkerfelt M., R.I. Morimoto and L. Sistonen (2010) Heat shock factors: integrators of stress, development and lifespan. Nat Rev. 11:545-555.

Altiero, T., R. Guidetti, D. Boschini and L. Rebecchi (2012) Heat shock proteins in encysted and anhydrobiotic eutardigrades. J Limnol. 71:211-215.

Alekseev V. R. and Y. I. Starobogatov (1996) Types of diapause in Crustacea: definitions, distribution, evolution. Hydrobiologica. 320:15-26.

Amat, F., F. Hontoria, J.C. Navarro, N. Vieira and G. Mura (2007) Biodiversity loss in the genus *Artemia* in the western Mediterranean region. Limnetica. 26:387-404.

Arosio, P., R. Ingrassia, and P. Cavadini (2009) Ferritins: A family of molecules for iron storage, antioxidation and more. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta. 1790:589-599.

Aruda, A.M., M.F. Baumgartner, A.M. Reitzel and A.M. Tarrant (2011) Heat shock protein expression during stress and diapause in the marine copepod *Calanus finmarchicus*. J Insect Phisiol. 57:665-675.

Andrews, S.C. (2010) The Ferritin-like superfamily: Evolution of the biological iron storeman from a rubrerythrin-like ancestor, Biochimica et Biophysica Acta. 1800:691-705.

Annderson, E., J.H. Lochhead, M.S. Lochhead and E. Huebner. (1970) The origin and structure of the tertiary envelope in thick-shelled eggs of the brine shrimp, *Artemia.* J Ultrastruct Res. 32:497-525.

Bagnéris, C., O.A. Bateman, C.E. Naylor, N. Cronin, W.C. Boelens, N.H. Keep and C. Slingsby (2009) Crystal structures of *«*B-crystallin and Hsp20. J Mol Biol 392:1242-1252.

Basha, E. H. O'Neil and E. Vierling (2012) Small heat shock proteins and ∝crystallins: dynamic proteins with flexible functions. Trends Biochem Sci. 3:106-117. Bellés, X. (2010) Beyond *Drosophila*: RNAi In Vivo and functional genomics in insects. Annu Rev Entomol. 55:111-128.

Benesch, J.L.P., J. A. Aquilina, A.J. Baldwin, A. Rekas, F. Stengel, R.A. Lindner, E. Basha, G.L. Devlin, J. Horwitz, E. Vierling, J.A. Carver, and C.V. Robinson. (2010) The Quaternary Organization and Dynamics of the Molecular Chaperone HSP26 are Thermally Regulated. Cell Chem Biol. 17:1008-1017.

Benoit, J.B., G. Lopez-Martinez, K.R. Patrick, Z.P. Phillips, T.B. Krause and D.L. Denlinger (2011) Drinking a hot blood meal elicits a protective heat shock response in mosquitoes. PNAS. 108:8026-8029.

Bernstein, E., A. A. Caudy, S. M. Hammond, and G. J. Hannon (2001) Role for a bidentate ribonuclease in the initiation step of RNA interference. Nature 409:363–366.

Bertucci, A., R.D.J. Pocock, G. Randers-Pehrson and D.J. Brenner (2009) Microbeam irradiation of the *C. Elegans* Nematode. J Radiat Res. 50:A49-A54.

Bösl B., V. Grimminger and S. Walter (2006) The molecular chaperone Hsp104—a molecular machine for protein disaggregation. J Struct Biol. 156:139–148.

Browne, R.A. (1980) Reproductive pattern and mode in the brine shrimp. Ecology. 61:466-470

Carracedo, A., A. Egia, M. Guzmán and G. Velasco (2006) p8 Upregulation sensitizes astrocytes to oxidative stress FEBS lett. 580:1571-1575.

Carracedo, A., M. Lorente, A. Egia, C. Blázquez, S. Garciá, V. Giroux, C. Malicet, R. Villuendas, M. Gironella, M. González-Feria, M.A. Piris, J.L. Iovanna, M. Guzmán and G. Velasco (2006) The stress-regulated protein p8 mediates cannabinoid-induced apoptosis of tumor cells. Cancer cell. 9:301-312.

Chen, T., Amons, R., Clegg, J. S., Warner, A. H., & MacRae, T. H. (2003). Molecular characterization of artemin and ferritin from *Artemia franciscana*. Eur J Biochem. 270:137-145.

Chen, T., Villeneuve, T. S., Garant, K. a, Amons, R., & MacRae, T. H. (2007). Functional characterization of artemin, a ferritin homolog synthesized in Artemia embryos during encystment and diapause. FEBS. 274:1093-101.

Chen, J., M.J. Feige, T.M. Franzmann, A. Bepperling and J. Buchner (2010) Regions outside the α-crystallin domain of the small heat shock protein Hsp26 are required for its dimerization. J Mol Biol. 398:122-131. Crichton, R.R. and J.-P. Declercq (2010) X-ray structures of Ferritins and related proteins. Biochem Biophs Acta. 1800:706–718

Clegg, J.S. (1974) Biochemical adaptations associated with the embryonic dormancy of *Artemia salina*. Trans Am Microscop Soc. 93:481-490.

Clegg, J.S. (1994) Unusual response of *Artemia franciscana* embryos to prolonged anoxia. J Exp Zool. 270:332-334.

Clegg J.S. (1997) Embryos of *Artemia franciscana* survive four years of continuous anoxia: the case for complete metabolic rate depression. J Exp Biol. 200:467-475.

Clegg, J.S. (2005) Desiccation tolerance in encysted embryos of the animal extremophile, *Artemia*. Integr Comp Biol. 45:715-724.

Clegg, J.S. (2007) Protein stability in *Artemia* embryos during prolonged anoxia. Biol Bull. 212: 74-81.

Clegg, J.S. (2011) Stress-related proteins compared in diapause and in activated, anoxic encysted embryos of the animal extreemophile *Artemia franciscanna*. J Insect Phhysiol. 57:660-664.

Clegg, J. S., Conte F. (1980) in The Brine Shrimp *Artemia*. Vol 2 (Persoone, G. P., Sorgeloos, P., Roels, O., Jaspers, E., eds) pp. 11-54, University Press, Wetteren, Belgium

Clegg, J.S., L.E. Drinkwater and P. Sorgeloos (1996) The metabolic status of diapause embryos of *Artemia franciscana* (SFB). Physiol Zool. 69:49-66.

Clegg, J.S., J.K. Willsie and S.A. Jackson (1999) Adaptive significance of a small heat shock/a- crystallin protein (p26) in encysted embryos of the brine shrimp, *Artemia franciscana*. Am Zool. 39:836-847.

Clegg, J.S., S.A. Jackson and V.I. Popov (2000) Long-term anoxia in encysted embryos of the crustacean, *Artemia franciscana*: viability, ultrastructure, and stress proteins. Cell Tiss. Res. 301:433-446.

Colinet, H., S.F. Lee and A. Hoffmann (2010) Temporal expression of heat shock genes during cold stress and recovery from chill coma in adult *Drosophila melanogaster*. FEBS. 277:176-185.

Copf, T. R. Schröder and M. Averof (2004) Ancestral role of *caudal* genes in axis elongation and segmentation. PNAS. 101:17711-17715.

Copf, T.R., N. Rabet and M. Averof (2006) Knockdown of spalt function by RNAi causes de-repression of Hox genes and homeotic transformations in the crustacean *Artemia franciscana*. Dev Biol. 298:87-94.

Dai, J.Q., X.J. Zhu, F.Q. Liu, J.H. Xiang, H. Nagasawa and W.J. Yang (2008) Involvement of p90 ribosomal S6 kinase in termination of cell cycle arrest during development of Artemia-encysted embryos. J Biol Chem. 283:1705-1712.

Dai, J.Q., D.F. Chen, Y.L. Liu, Y. Zhao, F. Yang, J.S. Yang and W.J. Yang (2011) Extracellular Matrix Peptides of *Artemia* Cyst Shell Participate in Protecting Encysted Embryos from Extreme Environments. Plos ONE. E20187.

Daugaard, M., M. Rohde and M. Jäättelä (2007) The heat shock protein 70 family: highly homologous proteins with overlapping and distinct functions. FEBS Lett. 581:3702-3710.

De Graaf, J., Amons, R., & Möller, W. (1990). The primary structure of artemin from *Artemia* cysts. European journal of biochemistry. FEBS 193:737-50.

Denlinger, D.L. (2002) Regulation of diapause. Annu Rev Entomol. 47:93-122.

Duerr, J.M. and J.E. Podrabsky (2010) Mitochondrial physiology of diapausing and developing embryos of the annual killifish *Austrofundulus limnaeus:* implications for extreme anoxia tolerance. J Comp Physiol Biol. 180: 991-1003.

Encinar, J.A., G.V. Mallo, C. Mizyrycki, L. Giono, J.M. González-Ros, M. Rico, E. Cánepepa, S. Moreno, J.L. Neira and J. L. Iovanna (2001) Biol Chem. 276:2742-2751.

Fire, A., S. Xu. M.K. Montgomery, S.A. Kostas, S.E. Drivers and C.C. Mello (1998) Potent and specific genetic interference by double-strandid RNA in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Nature. 391:806-811.

Fujiwara, Y. and D.L. Denlinger (2007) High temperature and hexane break pupal diapause in the flesh fly *Sarcophaga crassipalpis*, by activating ERK/MAPK. J Insect Physiol. 53:1276-1282.

Garciá-Montero, A., S. Vasseur, L.E. Giono, E. Canepa, S. Moreno, J.C. Dagorna and J.L. Iovanna (2001) Transforming growth factor β -1 enhances Smad transcriptional activity through activation of p8 gene expression. Biochem J. 357:249-253.

Garciá-Montero, A., S. Vasseur, G.V. Mallo, P. Soubeyran, J.C. Dagorn and J.L. lovanna (2001) Expression of the stress-induced p8 mRNA is transiently activated after culture medium change. Eur Cell Biol. 80:720-725.

Grewal, S.I. And S.C. Elgin. (2007) Transcription and RNA interference in the formation of heterochromatin. Nature 447:399–406.

Ghosh, J.G., M.R. Estrada and J.I. Clark (2005) Interactive domains for chaperone activity in the small heat shock protein, human α Crystallin. Biochemistry 44:14854-14869.

Ghosh, J.G., A.K. Shenoy and J.I. Clark (2006) N- and C-terminal motifs in human α Crystallin play an important role in the recognition, selection, and solubilization of substrates. Biochemistry. 45:13847-13854.

Gilchrist, BM (1960) Growth and form of the brine shrimp *Artemia salina*. J Zool. 134. 221-235.

Gkouvitsas, T., D. Kontogiannatos and A. Kourti (2008) Differential expression of two small hsps during diapause in the corn stalk borer Sesamia nonagrioides (Lef.) J Insect Physiol. 54:1503-1510.

Gkouvitsas, T., D. Kontogiannatos and A. Kourti (2009a) Expression of the HSP83 gene in response to diapause and thermal stress in the moth Sesamia nonagrioides. Insect Mol Biol. 18:759-768.

Gkouvitsas, T.,D. Kontogiannatos and A. Kourti (2009b) Congnate Hsp70 gene is induced during deep larval diapause in the moth Sesamia nonagrioides. Insect Mol Biol. 18:253-264.

Goruppi, A., R.D. Patten, T. Force and J.M. Kyriakis (2007) Helix-loop-helix protein p8, a transcriptional regulator required for cardiomyocyte hypertrophy and cardic fibroblast matrix metalloprotease induction Mol Cell Biol. 27:993-1006.

Goruppi, S. and J.L. Iovanna (2010) Stress-inducable protein p8 is involved in several physiological and pathological processes. J Biol Chem. 285:1577-1581.

Goto, S.G. and M.T. Kimura (2004) Heat-shock-responsive genes are not involved in the adult diapause of *Drosophila triauraria*. Gene. 326:117-122.

Goto, S.G., K.M. Yoshida and M.T. Kimura (1998) Accumulation of Hsp70 mRNA under environmental stresses in diapausing and non diapausing adults of *Drosophila triauraria*. J Insect Physiol. 44:1009-1015.

Haasnoot, J., E.M. Westerhout, and B. Berkhout. (2007) RNA interference against viruses: strike and counterstrike. Nature Biotechnol. 25:1435–1443.

Hahn J.S. (2009) The Hsp90 chaperone machinery: from structure to drug development. BMB Rep. 42:623–630.

Hahn, D.A. and D.L. Denlinger (2011) Energetics of Insect Diapause. Annu Rev Entomol. 56:103-121.

Hartl F.U. and M. Hayer-Hartl(2009) Converging concepts of protein folding in vitro and in vivo. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 16:574–581.

Hartl, F.U., A. Bracher and M. Hayer-Hartl (2011) Molecular chaperones in protein folding and proteostasis. Nature. 475:324-332

Haslbeck, M. (2002) sHsps and their role in the chaperone network. Cell Mol Life Sci. 59:1649-1657.

Haslbeck, M., T. Franzmann, D. Weinfurtner and J. Buchner (2005) Some like it hot: the structure and function of small heat-shock proteins. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 12:842-846.

Heberer, C., S.A. Aalbers, D. Bernal, S. Kohin, B. DiFiore and C.A. Sepulveda (2010) Insights into catch-and-release survivorship and stress-induced blood biochemistry of common thresher sharks (*Alopias vulpinus*) captured in the southern California recreational fishery. Fisheries Res. 106:495-500.

Hilario, E., F.J.M. Martin, M.C. Bertolini and L. Fan (2011) Crystal structures of *Xanthomonas* small heat shock protein provide a structural basis for an active molecular chaperone oligomer. J Mol Biol. 408:74-86.

Hoffmeister, A., A. Ropolo, S. Vasseur, G.V. Mallo, H. Bodeker, B. Ritz-Laser, G.R. Dressler, M.I. Vaccaro, J.C. Dagorn, S. Moreno and J.L. Iovanna (2002) The HMG-I/Y-related protein p8 binds p300 and Pax2 *trans*-activation domaininteracting protein to regulate the *trans*-activation activity of the Pax2A and Pax 2B transcription factors on the gulcagon gene promoter. J Biol Chem. 277:22314-22319.

Hu, Y., S. Bojikova-Fournier, A.M. King and T.H. MacRae (2011) The structural stability and chaperone activity of artemin, a ferritin homologue from diapause-destined *Artemia* embryos, depend on different cysteine residues. Cell Stress Chaperon. 16:133-141.

Hutvagner, G. And M.J. Simard (2008) Argonaute proteins: key players in RNA silencing. Nature Rev Mol Cell Biol. 9:22–32.

Jovanović-Galović, A., D.P. Blagojević, G. Grubor-Lajšić, R. Worlarn and M.b. Spasić (2004) Role of antioxidant defense during different stages of preadult life cycle in European corn borer (*Ostrinia nubilalis,* Hubn.): Diapause and metamorphosis. Arch Insect Biochem Physiol. 55:79-89.

Jehle, S., B.S. Vollmar, B. Bardiaux, K.K. Dove, P. Rajagopal, T. Gonen, H. Oschkinat and R.E. Klevit (2011) N-terminal domain of aB-crystallin provides a conformational switch for multimerization and structural heterogeneity. PNAS USA. 108:6409-6414.

Jinek, M. And J.A. Doudna (2009) A three-dimentional view of the molecular machinery of RNA interference. Nature. 457:405-413.

Khan, S. and J. Heikkila (2011) Curcumin-induced inhibition of proteasomal activity, enhanced HSP accumulation and the acquisition of thermotolerance in *Xenopus laevis* A6 cells. Comp Biochem Physiol. 158:566-576.

Kim, K.K., R. Kim and S. Kim (1998) Crystal structure of a small heat-shock protein. Nature 394:595-599.

Kim, M., C. Sim and D.L. Denlinger (2010) RNA interference directed agains ribosomal protein S3a suggests a link between this gene and arrested ovarian development during adult diapause in *Culex pipiens*. Insect Mol Biol. 19:27-33.

Kemp, W. P. And J. Bosch (2001) Postcocooning temperatures and diapause in the alfalfa pollinator *Megachile rotundata* (Hymenoptera: Megachilidae). Physiol Biochem Toxicol. 94:244-250.

Kennaway, C.K., J.L. Benesch, U. Gohlke, L. Wang, C.V. Robinson, E.V. Orlova, H.R. Saibi and N.H. Keep (2005) Dodecemeric structure of the small heat shock protein Acr1 from *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. J Biol Chem. 280:33419-33425.

Kong, D.K., S.P. Georgescu, C. Cano, M.J. Aronovitz, J.L. Iovanna, R.D. Patten, J.M. Kyriakis and S. Goruppi (2010) Deficiency of the transcriptional regulator p8 results in increased autophagy and apoptosis, and causes impaired heart function. Mol Biol Cell. 21:1335-1349.

Koštál, V. (2006) Eco-physiological phases of insect diapause. J Insect Physiol. 52:113-127.

Kuang, X.J., J. Xu, Q.W. Xia, H.M. He and F.S. Xue (2011) Inheritance of the photoperiodic responce controlling imaginal summer diapause in the cabbage beetle, *Colaphellus bowringi*. J Insect Physiol. 57:614-619.

Lai, Y. And R.L. Gallo (2009) AMPed up immunity: how antimicrobial peptides have multiple roles in immune defense. Trends Immunol. 30:131-141.

Laksanalamai P. and F.T. Robb (2004) Small heat shock proteins from extremophiles: a review. Extremophiles. 8:1–11.

Lavoie, J.N., G. Gingras-Breton, R.M. Tanquay and J. Landry (1993) Induction of chinese hamster HSP27 gene expression in mouse cells confers resistance to heat shock. J Biol Chem. 268:3420-3429.

Lee, G.J., A.M. Roseman, H.R. Saibil and E. Vierling (1997) A small heat shock protein stably binds heat-denatured model substrates and can maintain a substrate in a folding-competent state. EMBO J. 16:659-671.

Li, F. And S.W. Ding (2006) Virus counterdefense: diverse strategies for evading the RNA-silencing immunity. Annu Rev Microbiol. 60:503–531.

Li, Z., J. Ma, C. Liu, H. Ma, Z. Goo, B. Fu, L. Wang, F. Peng and D. Liu (2012) Effects of cold stress on porcine fibroblasts HSP90 mRNA expression. In Information technology and agricultural engineering: Advances in intelligent and soft computing. Eds. E. Zhu and S. Sambath. Springer.

Li, A.Q., A. Popova-Butler, D.H. Dean and D.L. Denlinger (2007) Protemics of the flesh fly brain reveals an abundance of upregulated heat shock proteins during pupal diapause. JInsect Physiol. 53:385-391.

Liao, J.-H., J.S. Lee, S.-H. Wu and S.-H. Chiou (2009) COOH-terminal truncations and site-directed mutations enhance thermostability and chaperone-like activity of porcine aB-crystallin. Mol Vis. 15:1429-1444.

Liang, P. and T.H. MacRae (1997) Molecular chaperones and the cytoskeleton. J Cell Sci. 110:1431-1440.

Liang, P. And T.H. MacRae (1999) The synthesis of a small heat shock/alphacrystallin protein in *Artemia* and its relationship to stress tolerance during development. Dev Bio. 207:445-456.

Liu, Z., Y. Sun, N. Liu, N. Fan and S. Zhang (2009) Characterization, expression and response to stress of *p8* gene in amphioxus. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 27:407-413.

Lyytinen, A., J. Mappes and L. Lindström (2012) Variation in Hsp70 Levels after Cold Shock: Signs of Evolutionary Responses to Thermal Selection among *Leptinotarsa decemlineata* Populations. PlosOne: e31446.

MacRae, T.H. (2005) Molecular chaperones, stress resistance and development in *Artemia franciscana* and its relationship to stress tolerance during development. Dev Biol. 207:445-465.

MacRae, T.H. (2010) Gene expression, metabolic regulation and stress tolerance during diapause. Cell Mol Life Sci. 67:2405-2424

Maeda, I., Y. Kohara, M. Yamamoto and A. Sugimoto (2001) Large-scale analysis of gene function in *Caenorhabditis elegans* by high thoughput RNAi. Curr Biol. 11:171-176.

Mallo, G.V., F. Fiedler, E.L. Calvo, E.M. Ortiz, S. Vasseur, V. Keim, J. Morisset and J.L. Iovanna (1997) Cloning and expression of the rat p8 cDNA, a new gene activated in pancreas during the acute phase of pancreatitis, pancreatic development, and regeneration, and which promotes cellular growth. Biol Chem. 272:32360-32369.

McDonald, E.T., M. Bortolus, H.A. Koteiche and H.S. Mcharourab (2012) Sequence, structure and dynamic determinants of Hsp27 (HspB1) equilibrium dissociation are encoded by the N-terminal domain. Biochemistry. 51:1257-1268.

Mchaourab, H.S., J.A. Godar and P.L. Stewart (2009) Structure and mechanism of protein stability sensors: chaperone activity of small heat shock proteins. Biochemistry 48:3828-3837.

Meimaridou E., S.B. Gooljar and J.P. Chapple (2009) From hatching to dispatching: the multiple cellular roles of the Hsp70 molecular chaperone machinery. J Mol Endocrinol. 42:1–9.

Mizrahi, T., J. Heller, S. Goldenberg and Z. Arad (2010) Heat shock proteins and resistance to desiccation in congeneric land snails. Cell stress and chaperon. 15:351-363.

Moreira, D.C., D.P. Paula and M. Hermes-Lima (2012) Redox metabolism during tropical diapause in a Lepidoptera larva. Living in a seasonal world. Ed: Ruf et al., Living in a seasonal world. Springer-Verlag Berlin, Germany.

Muñoz, J., A.J. Green, J. Figuerola, F. Amat and C. Rico (2009) Characterization of polymorphic microsatellite markers in the brine shrimp *Artemia* (Branchiopoda, Anostraca) Mol Ecol. 83. 547-550.

Muñoz, J. and F. Pacios (2010) Global biodiversity and geographical distribution of the diapausing aquatic invertabrates: The case of the cosmopolitan brine shrimp, *Artemia* (Branchiopoda, Anostraca). Crustaceana. 83. 465-480.

Muñoz, J., A. Gómez, A.J. Green, J. Figuerola, F. Amat and C. Rico (2010) Evolutionary Origin and Phylogeography of the Diploid Obligate Parthenogen *Artemia parthenogenetica* (Branchiopoda: Anostraca) PLOS One. E11932.

Pasternak, A., W. Hagen, G. Kattner, J. Michels , M. Graeve, S.B. Schnack-Schiel. (2009) Lipid dynamics and feeding of dominant Antarctic calanoid copepods in the eastern Weddell Sea in December. Polar Biol. 32:1597-1606. Picard, D. (2002) Heat-shock protein 90, a chaperone for folding and regulation. Cell Mol Life Sci. 59:1640-1648.

Pond, D.W., G.A. Tarling, P. Ward and D.J. Mayor (2012) Wax ester composition influences the diapause patterns in the copepod *Calanoides acutus*. Deep Sea Res. 59:93-104.

Pratt, W.B., Y. Morishima, H.-M. Peng and Y. Osawa (2010) Proposal for a role of the Hsp90/Hsp70-based chaperone machinery in making triage decisions when proteins undergo oxidative and toxic damage. Exp Biol Med. 235:278-289.

Ptak G.E., E. Tacconi, M. Czernik, P. Toschi, J.A. Modlinski and P. Loi. (2012). Embryonic diapause is conserved across mammals. PLoS ONE. e33027

Qiu, Z., P. Bossier, X. Wang, S. Bojikova-Fournier and T.H. MacRae (2006) Diversity, structure, and expression of the gene for p26, a small heat shock protein from *Artemia.* Genomics. 88:230-240.

Qiu, Z., and T.H. MacRae (2007). Developmentally regulated synthesis of p8, a stress-associated transcription cofactor, in diapause-destined embryos of *Artemia franciscana*. Cell Stress Chaperon. 12:255-64.

Qiu, Z. and T.H. MacRae (2008a) ArHsp22, a developmentally regulated small heat shock protein produced in diapause-destined *Artemia* embryos, is stress inducible in adults. FEBS. 14:3556 - 3566.

Qiu, Z. and T.H. MacRae (2008b) ArHsp21, a developmentally regulated small heat-shock protein synthesized in diapause embryos of *Artemia franciscana*. Biochem J. 411. 605-611.

Quirk, C.C., D.D. Seachrist and J.H. Nilson (2003) Embryonic expression of the luteinizing horemone B gene appears to be coupled to the transient appearance of p8, a high mobility group-related transcription factor. J Biol Chem. 278:1680-1685.

Renfree, M.B. And G. Shaw. (2000) Diapause. Annul Rev Physiol. 62:353-375.

Retzlaff M., M. Stahl, H.C. Eberl, S. Lagleder, J. Beck, H. Kessler, J. Buchner (2009) Hsp90 is regulated by a switch point in the C-terminal domain. EMBO Rep. 10:1147–1153.

Reynolds, J. A. and S.C. Hand. (2009) Decoupling development and energy flow during embryonic diapause in the cricket, *Allonemobius scoius*. J Exp Biol. 212:2065-2074.

Roach, S.H. And P.L. Adkisson (1971) Termination of pupal diapause in the Bollworm. J Econ Entomol. 64:1057-1060.

Robbins, H.M., G.V. Stappen, P. Sorgeloos, Y. Y. Sung, T.H. MacRae and P. Bossier. (2010) Diapause termination and development of encysted *Artemia* embryos: roles for nitric oxide and hydrogen peroxide. J Exp Biol. 213:1464-1470.

Schramke, V., D.M. Sheedy, A.M. Denli, C. Bonila, K. Ekwall, G.J. Hannon and R.C. (2005) RNA-interference-directed chromatin modification coupled to RNA polymerase II transcription. Nature. 435:1275-1279.

Sim, C. And D.L. Denlinger (2011) Catalase and superoxide dismutase-2 enhance survival and protect ovaries during overwintering diapause in the mosquito *Culex pipiens*. J. Insect Physiol. 57:628-634.

Siomi, H and M.C. Siomi (2009) On the road to reading the RNA-interference code. Nature. 457:396-405.

Sonoda, S., K. Fukumoto, Y. Izumi, H. Yoshida and H. Tsumuki (2006) Cloning of heat shock protein genes (*hsp90* and *hsc70*) and their expression during larval diapause and cold tolerance acquisition in the rice stem borer, *Chilo suppressalis* Walker. Arch. Insect Biochem Physiol. 63:36-47.

Sorgeloos P. (1979) The use if the brine shrimp *Artemia* in aquaculture. In The brine shrimp *Artemia*. Vol. 3. Eds:G. Persoone, P. Sorgeloos, O. Roels and E. Jaspers. Universa Press, Wetteren, Belgium.

Stromer, T., E. Fisher, K. Richter, M. Haslbeck and J. Buchner (2004) Analysis of the regulation of the molecular chaperone hsp26 by temperature-induced dissociation. J Biol Chem. 279:11222-11228.

Sun, Y. and T.H. MacRae (2005) Small heat shock proteins: molecular structure and chaperone function. Cell Mol Life Sci. 62:2460-2476.

Tammariello, S.P. and D.L. Denlinger (1998) G0/G1 cell cycle arrest in the brain of *Sarcophaga crassipalpis* during pupal diapause in the expression pattern of the cell cycle regulator, proliferation cell nuclear antigen. Insect Biochem Mol Biol. 28:83-89.

Tanguay, J. a, Reyes, R. C., and Clegg, J. S. (2004). Habitat diversity and adaptation to environmental stress in encysted embryos of the crustacean *Artemia*. J Biosci. 29:489-501.

Tauber, M.J. and C.A. Tauber (1976) Insect seasonality: Diapause maintenance, termination and postdiapause development. Ann Rev Entomol. 21:81-107.

Tiroli-Cepeda, A.O. And C.H.I. Ramos (2010) Heat causes oligomeric disassembly and increases the chaperone activity of small heat shock proteins from sugarcane. Plant Phyiol Biochem. 48:108-116.

Treweek, T.M., A. Rekas, M.J. Walker and J.A. Carver (2010) A quantitative NMR spectroscopic examination of the flexibility of the C-terminal extensions of the molecular chaperones, α A- and α B-crystallin. Exp Eye Res. 91:691-699.

Tukaj, S. and Z. Tukaj (2010) Distinct chemical contaminants induce the synthesis of Hsp70 proteins in green microalgae *Desmodesmus subspicatus*: Heat pretreatment increases cadmium resistance. J Therm Biol. 53:239-244.

Turner, C.T., M.W. Davy, R.M. MacDiarmid, K.M. Plummer, N.P. Birch and R.D. Newcomb (2006) RNA interference in the light brown apple moth, *Epiphyas postvittana* (Walker) induced by double-stranded RNA feeding. Insect Mol Biol. 15:383-391.

van Montfort, R.L.M., E. Basha, K.L. Friedrich, C. Slingsby and E. Vierling (2001) Crystal structure and assembly of a eukaryotic small heat shock protein. Nat Struct Biol. 8:1025-1030.

Van Stappen, G., P. Lavens and P. Sorgeloos (1998) Effects of hydrogen peroxide treatment in *Artemia* cysts of different geographical origin. Adv Limnol. 52:281-296.

Vasseur, S., G.V. Mallo, F. Fiedler, H. Bödeker, E. Cánepa, S. Moreno and J.L. Iovanna (1999) Cloning and expression of the human p8, a nuclear protein with mitogenic activity. FEBS. 259:670-675.

Vasseur, S., G.V. Mallo, A. Garcia-Montero, E.M. Ortiz, F. Fielder, E. Cánepa, S. Moreno and J.L. Iovanna (1999) Structural and functional characterization of the mouse p8 gene: promotion of transcription by the CAAT-enhancer binding protein α (C/EBP α) and C/EBP β *trans*-acting factors involves a C/EBP *cis*-acting element and other regions of the promoter. Biochem J. 343:377-383.

Villeneuve, T.S., X. Ma, Y. Sun, M.M. Oulton, A.E. Oliver and T.H. Macrae (2006) Inhibition of apoptosis by p26: implications for small heat shock protein function during *Artemia* development. Cell Stress Chaperon. 11:71-80.

Vos. M.J., J. Hageman, S. Carra and H.H. Kampinga (2008) Structural and functional diversities between members of the human HSPB, HSPH, HSPA, and DNAJ chaperone families. Biochemistry 47:7001–7011.

Wnadinger, S.K., K., Richter and J. Buchner (2008) The Hsp90 chaperone machinery. J Biol Chem. 283:18473–18477.

Warner, A. H., MacRae, T.H. and Wahba, A.J. (1979) in Methods in Enzymology, vol. 60 (Moldave, K., Grossman, L. Eds) pp. 298-311, Academic Press, NY

Warner, a H., Brunet, R. T., MacRae, T. H., and Clegg, J. S. (2004). Artemin is an RNA-binding protein with high thermal stability and potential RNA chaperone activity. Arch Biochem Biophys. 424:189-200.

Whisstock, J.C. And A.M. Lesk (2003) Prediction of protein function from protein sequence and structure. Q Rev BioPhys. 36: 307-340.

Wu, Y. and T.H. MacRae (2010) Truncation attenuates molecular chaperoning and apoptosis inhibition by p26, a small heat shock protein from *Artemia franciscana*. Biochem. Cell Bio. 88:937 -946

Xiao, H.J., F.C. Mou, X.F. Zhu and F.S. Xue (2010) Diapause induction, maintenance and termination int he rice stem borer *Chilo suppressalis* (Walker) J Insect Physiol. 56. 1558-1564.

Yang, Y. And R.R. Balcercel (2003) 24-well plate spectrophotometric assay for preliminary screening of metabolic activity. Assay Drug Dev Technol. 1:461-468.

Yocum G.D., K.H. Joplin and D.L. Denlinger (1998) Upregulation of a 23kDa small heat shock protein transcript during pupal diapause in the flesh fly *Sarcophaga crassipalpis*. Insect Biochem Molecular Biol. 28:677-682.

Yu, L., L. Ye, R. Zhao, Y. F. Liu, S. J. Yang (2009) HSP70 induced by Hantavirus infection interacts with viral nucleocapsid protein and its over expression suppresses virus infection in Vero E6 cells. Am. J. Transl. Res. 1: 367-380.

Zampieri, E., R. Balestrini, A. Kohler, S. Abbà, F. Martin and P. Bonfante. (2011) The Perigord black truffle responds to cold temperature with an extensive reprogramming of its transcriptional activity. Fungal Genet Biol. 48:585-591.

Zhao, Y., X. Ding, X. Ye, Z., Dai, J. Yang and W. Yang (2012) Involvement of cyclin K posttranscriptional regulation in the formation of *Artemia* diapause cysts. Plos ONE. e321129